Attachment A



GENERAL ATOMICS HOT CELL FACILITY DECONTAMINATION & DECOMMISSIONING PROJECT

FINAL PROJECT CLOSEOUT REPORT



GA HOT CELL D&D, PROJECT

CONTRACT NUMBERS DE-AC03-84SF11962 and DE-AC03-95SF20798

PBS VL-GA-0012

Approvals

Prepared by:

15.0 t'04

Date

James Davis, III Project Manager, Oakland Environmental Programs Office

Reviewed by:



John Lee Deputy, Oakland Environmental Programs Office

October 15, 2004

Date

Approved by:

Laurence McEwen Acting Director, Oakland Environmental Programs Office

Date Contract (5, 2004

CONTENTS

CONTENTS	i
LIST OF TABLES, Figures, Appendices	ii
LIST OF ACRONYMS	iii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	v
CHRONOLOGY OF EVENTS	1
A PHOTO DOCUMENTATION OF HOT CELL FACILITY D& D PROJECT OPERATION	JS 1
1. BACKGROUND	1
1.1. Facility History	1
1.2. Project Purpose	4
2. FACILITY DESCRIPTION AND STATUS	4
3. DECOMMISSIONING OBJECTIVES (INCLUDING TECHNICAL APPROACH)	4
4. WORK PERFORMED	6
4.1. Project Management	6
4.2. Project Engineering	6
4.3. Site Characterization	7
4.4. Alternatives Assessment	8
4.5. Site Preparation	8
4.6. Decommissioning Operations	9
4.7. Waste Disposal	12
4.8. Post-Decommissioning Radiological Survey	12
4.9. Post-Decommissioning Hazardous Chemical Condition	12
4.10. Hot Cell Infadiated Fuel Materials	.13
5. COSTS AND SCHEDULES	1/
6. WASTE VOLUMES	20
7. OCCUPATIONAL EXPOSURE TO PERSONNEL	22
8. FINAL SITE CONDITION	23
9. PROJECT CLOSEOUT AND TRANSITION (CD-4)	24
10. LESSONS LEARNED, CONCLUSIONS, Suggestions	24
10.1. Overall Project Lessons	25
10.2. Specific D&D Suggestions	26
10.3. Waste Shipment Related Suggestions	27
10.4. Management Suggestions	27
11. REFERENCES	29

LIST OF TABLES, FIGURES, APPENDICES

Tables:

Table 4.10-1	Radionuclide Content of HTGR and RERTR IFMs	16
Table 5-1	Project DOE Funding Profile by Fiscal Year	19
Table 5-2	Total Project Cost by Major WBS Element	20
Table 6-1	Summary of Hot Cell D&D Waste Stream Totals	21
Table 6-2	Hot Cell Shipping Item Inventory	21
Table 6-3	Summary of Radioactive Waste Shipping Campaigns	23

Figures:

Figure 1	Project Location Relative to the San Diego, CA Area	2
Figure 2	Hot Cell Facility (Building 23) Relative to the General Atomics Main Site	2
Figure 3	Hot Cell Facility Site Relative to the General Atomics Main Site	3

Appendices:

- Appendix 1 Work Breakdown Structures, Phases 2 and 3
- <u>Appendix 2</u> Project Management Team
- Appendix 3 Phase 1 Schedule
- Appendix 4 Phases 2 and 3 Schedule
- <u>Appendix 5</u> Irradiated Fuel Materials Schedule
- Appendix 6 General Atomic Hot Cell Facility D&D Project Closeout (CD-4) Package

LIST OF ACRONYMS

AAL	Authorized Access List
ACBM	Asbestos Containing Building Material
ADS	Activity Data Sheets
ALARA	As Low As Reasonably Achievable
APPM	Accident Prevention Program Manual
ARWT	Advanced Radiological Worker Training
CA	Conditional Authorization
CAA	Clean Air Act
CAL-DHS	California Department of Health Services
CAL-DTSC	California Department of Toxic Substances Control
CAL-EPA	California Environmental Protection Agency
CAL-RHB	California Radiological Health Branch
CAL-OSHA	California Occupational Safety and Health Act
CCR	California Code of Regulations
CDE	Committed Dose Equivalent
CE	Conditional Exemption
CERCLA	Comprehensive Environmental Response and Liability Act
CFR	Code of Federal Regulations
CPR	Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation
CWA	Clean Water Act
D&D	Decontamination and Decommissioning
DOE	Department of Energy
DOE-EM	Department of Energy-Environmental Management
DOE-NE	Department of Energy-Nuclear Energy
DOE-OAK	Department of Energy-Oakland Operations Office
DOT	Department of Transportation
EA	Environmental Assessment
EBOR	Experimental Beryllium Oxide Reactor
EH&S	Environmental, Health, and Safety
EPA	Environmental Protection Agency
ESTES	Engineering Scale Tritium Extraction System
FFCA	Federal Facilities Compliance Act
FONSI	Finding Of No Significant Impact
GA	General Atomics
HCF	Hot Cell Facility
HCFA	Hot Cell Facility Area
HLC	High-Level Cell
HLW	High-Level Waste
HP	Health Physics
HTGR	High Temperature Gas-Cooled Reactor

HVAC	Heating, Ventilating & Air Conditioning
HWA	Hazardous Work Authorization
IFM(s)	Irradiated Fuel Material (s)
INEEL	Idaho National Energy and Environmental Laboratory
LLC	Low-Level Cell
LLW	Low-Level Waste
LSA	Low Specific Activity
LS&NC	Licensing, Safety and Nuclear Compliance
MAP	Mixed Activation Products
MBA	Material Balance Area
MFP	Mixed Fission Products
MGCR	Marine Gas Cooled Reactor
MLLW	Mixed Low-Level Waste
MSDS	Material Safety Data Sheets
MTRU	Mixed Transuranic
NIOSH	National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health
NPR	New Production Reactor
NRC	U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission
NWPF	Nuclear Waste Processing Facility (permitted facility at GA)
ORR	Operational Readiness Review
OSHA	Occupational Safety and Health Act
PaR	Programmable and Remote (Electromechanical Arm)
PCB	Polychlorinated Biphenyl
PPE	Personal Protective Equipment
QA	Quality Assurance
RCRA	Resource Conservation and Recovery Act
RWP	Radiation Work Permit
RWT	Radiological Worker Training
SD-DHS-	County of San Diego Department of Health Services Hazardous
HMMD	Materials Management Division
SDE	Shallow-Dose Equivalent
SNM	Special Nuclear Material
SSA	Soil Staging Area (lay-down area)
TEC	Total Estimated Cost
TEDE	Total Effective Dose Equivalent
TLD	Thermoluminescent Dosimeter
TRIGA	Training, Research, and Isotope Production, General Atomic (reactor)
TRU	Transuranic
TSCA	Toxic Substances Control Act
TSDF	Treatment, Storage and Disposal Facility
VSRA	Ventilation System Restricted Area

WA	Work Authorization
WAA	Waste Accumulation Area
WBS	Work Breakdown Structure

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

α	alpha
β	beta
BeO	beryllium oxide
cfm	cubic feet per minute
Ci	curies (1 Ci = 2.22×10^{12} dpm)
cpm	counts per minute
cps	counts per second
dpm	disintegrations per minute
γ	gamma
μCi	microcurie (1 μ Ci = 2.22 x 10 ⁶ dpm)
μR	microRoentgen
mR	milliRoentgen
mrad	millirad
mrem	millirem
mSv	milliSievert
Nal (Tl)	sodium iodide, thallium doped
pCi	picocuries (1 pCi = 2.22 dpm)
R	Roentgen
rem	Roentgen Equivalent Man
UO2	uranium oxide
ThO2	thorium oxide

CHRONOLOGY OF EVENTS

(See also Photo 1 and Following)

Early 1993	Hot Cell Facility (HCF) proposed to DOE as a candidate for the Surplus Facility Management Program. (See <u>Photo 1</u>)
Early 1993	HCF Decontamination & Decommissioning Project accepted by –EM- 40.
April 1993	OAK awarded a sole-source contract to General Atomics (GA) for Phase 1 of the GA HCF D&D Project, Contract No. DE-AC03- 84SF11962.
April 1993	GA mobilized.
July 1993	EM-40 accepts responsibility to fund and manage the disposition of the NE legacy Irradiated Fuel Materials (IFMs)
November 1993	Draft Environmental Assessment issued for the D&D of the GA HCF.
November 1993	Inventory reports for the NE legacy waste (HTGR, TFE, ESTES, and general facility) and building stored IFMs completed and issued.
December 1993	Approval granted by the State of California Department of Health Services, Radiological Health Branch to move the IFMs from HCF Building 23 to GA Building 30, Room 118.
February 1994	Fuel Materials Characterization Plan completed and issued.
March 1994	Contract DE-AC03-84SF11962 amended to include the disposition of the NE legacy waste (HTGR, TFE, ESTES, and general facility) and the management of the IFMs
May 1994	Site and Facility Characterization Plan completed and issued.
June 1994	Operational Readiness Review conducted for Phase 1 activities.
July 1994	Subcontract for asbestos characterization activities awarded.
July 1994	Westinghouse Hanford conducts off-site assessment of HCF D&D Project waste operations.
September 1994	DOE/OAK grants approval to commence Phase 1 activities.
September 1994	Radiological characterization and soil assessment activities commence.
October 1994	Asbestos sampling is completed.
November 1994	Facility sampling and soil coring for characterization completed.
December 1994	Westinghouse Hanford designates GA an "Approved Waste Generator."
December 1994	GA formally notifies NRC of intent to cease "principal activities" at the Hot Cell Facility.
January 1995	Hanford approves GA Waste Certification Plan.
January 1995	Radiological waste shipping begins.
July 1995	GA Hot Cell Site and Facility Characterization Report approved by EM-40 and OAK.

July 1995	GA Hot Cell Facility Decommissioning Plan submitted to NRC and CA-DHS for approval.
July 1995	Five cask shipments of remote handled, category 3, LLW sent to Hanford. (See <u>Photo 2</u>)
August 1995	Letter Contract issued to GA for Phases 2 and 3 of the HCF D&D Project.
August 1995	Final Environmental Assessment for the HCF D&D Project issued followed by a FONSI.
August 1995	GA mobilized for Phases 2 and 3, and Phase 2 activities commenced.
November 1995	GA Hot Cell Phase 1 activities completed.
December 1995	Operational Readiness Review conducted for IFM transfer activities.
December 1995	IFMs transferred from the HCF (Building 23) to GA Building 30, Room 118. Material transferred to commence Phase 2 activities. (See <u>Photo 3</u>)
January 1996	DOE definitized the Letter Contract for HCF D&D Project, Phases 2 and 3.
February 1996	Operational Readiness Review for Phase 2 decommissioning activities conducted.
February 1996	GA Hot Cell Facility Decommissioning Plan approved by CA-DHS.
May 1996	GA Hot Cell Facility Decommissioning Plan interim approval by NRC.
May 1996	Decommissioning activities commenced (removal of interior walls). (See <u>Photo 4</u>)
December 1996	Sixth cask shipment of remote handled, category 3 LLW sent to Hanford.
January 1997	GA Hot Cell Facility Decommissioning Plan approved by NRC.
March 1997	Shipment of equipment removed from the cells (8 Model E Manipulators, 1 Koll-Morgan Periscope, 1 PaR, and 1 Metallograph) to GE for reuse (recycle measure) completed. (See <u>Photo 5</u>)
July 1997	Six HCF window assemblies packaged and shipped to Hot Cell Services in Washington to be refurbished and recycled.
October 1997	Underground diesel storage tank removal and closure completed.
November 1997	ORR for HEPA system shutdown conducted.
December 1997	Building decontamination activities completed.
January 1998	Dismantlement of interior walls and ceilings completed.
March 1998	Hot Cell Facility HEPA system shut down.
May 1998	Dismantlement of roof and exterior walls completed. (See Photo 6)
July 1998	Dismantlement of High Level Cell, Low Level Cell and Metallurgy Cell completed. (See <u>Photo 7</u> (set))
October 1998	Dismantlement of the building storage pits and wells completed.
October 1998	Dismantlement of building operating systems and services completed.

October 1998	Dismantlement of building below ground service lines completed. (See <u>Photo 7</u> (set))
October 1998	Dismantlement of the Hot Cell Facility completed. (See Photo 8)
October 1998	Approval to ship contaminated soil and debris to Envirocare received.
November 1998	Shipments to Envirocare initiated.
November 1998	Final Radiological Survey Plan submitted to NRC for review.
September 1999	Soil and debris shipments to Envirocare completed (174 shipments).
September 1999	Independent survey activities commenced (ORISE) on pits and trenches.
November 1999	IFMs relocated from Building 30, Room 118, to GA Building 31, Room 103A to avoid interference with other GA D&D activities.
December 1999	GA radiological surveys of the HCF site completed.
March 2000	GA confirmatory radiological surveys of the HCF site completed.
March 2000	Independent verification activities completed (ORISE and NRC)
March 2000	NRC and CA-DHS received GA Final Radiological Survey Report and the request to release the GA Hot Cell Site to unrestricted use.
June 2000	ORISE Final Report on Verification Survey of the GA Hot Cell Site issued.
July 2000	Hot Cell Site released to unrestricted use by NRC (by license amendment).
August 2000	Hot Cell Site released to unrestricted use by CA-DHS (by license amendment).
February 2001	Approval to ship radiologically contaminated soil and asphalt to the Nevada Test Site (NTS) received.
March 2001	Low level waste shipments to NTS initiated.
March 2001	Low level waste shipments to Hanford completed (438 Y-4 boxes, 6 cask liners of waste, 79 slabs, 14 wells, 7 shield doors, and miscellaneous equipment).
April 2001	All GA Site Treatment Plan Milestones of the GA Compliance Order under the FFCA completed.
May 2001	Soil shipments to NTS completed (100 shipments).
June 2001	All radiological waste disposal activities complete.
September 2001	Hot Cell Facility decommissioning activities complete.
April 2002	Radiological characteristics and containment packaging details of the DOE legacy irradiated fuel materials completed and issued in a report titled, "HTGR/RERTR Fuel Materials Characterization and packaging Report".
June 2002	Initiated project planning and established interface communications between GA, NAC, INEEL, OAK, and ID to coordinate irradiated fuel shipment activities.

July 2002	GA completes statement of work for the shipment of the IFMs and issues the Request for Proposals to qualified shipping cask service vendors.
August 2002	GA completed and issued to INEEL Fuel and Packaging Required Shipper Data forms for receipt and storage of the DOE legacy IFMs in accordance with INEEL's acceptance criteria.
October 2002	Submitted all Pre-irradiation and Post-irradiation reports covering the numerous fuel test irradiation capsules in the HTGR and RERTR IFMS to INEEL.
October 2002	Completed an audit of NAC International, Norcross, GA (NAC) in order to qualify NAC as an "Approved Shipping of IFMs Vendor".
November 2002	GA awarded a shipping cask service contract to NAC International (NAC), Norcross, Georgia for shipping the irradiated fuel materials to INEEL.
February 2003	Completed a layout of the proposed IFM highway transport route and physically mapped/traveled the route. Information to be used to develop a detailed Transportation Plan.
June 2003	Fabrication of special IFM Basket (Top Module) and Spacer hardware for the containment of the GA IFMs in the NAC-LWT shipping cask approved by the NRC.
June 2003	Approval by the NRC of the application for an amendment to the NAC shipping cask U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) Radioactive Material Package License to allow the transport of the GA IFM in the NAC-LWT shipping cask.
April 2003	Approval of the application for GA to be designated by the NRC as a "NRC Authorized User" of the NAC-LWT shipping cask.
July 2003	Preparation, submittal, and acquisition of specific Route Approval from the U.S. NRC for the highway transport of the NAC-LWT shipping cask containing the GA IFM from GA, San Diego, CA, to the INEEL, Idaho Falls, ID.
February 2003	Development and issuance of shipment-specific Shielding/Source Term Calculations,CriticalitySafetyEvaluation,Structural/Thermal/ Containment Calculations, Security Plan, and Transportation Plan for the shipment of GA IFM.
March 2003	Established interface communications between GA, NAC, INEEL, DOE/OAK and DOE/ID to coordinate IFMs shipment activities.
April 2003	GA and NAC finalized specific methodologies to be utilized for the free-air transfer of the IFM canisters to the NAC Basket, and the loading of the NAC-LWT cask.
April 2003	Developed specific radiation dose calculations for the free air transfer of the IFM canisters in the Dry Pit and the handling of the loaded NAC Intermediate Transfer System (ITS) Inner Shield.
April 2003	GA QA Program certified as acceptable by INEEL.

May 2003	Preparation and approval by INEEL, DOE/ID, DOE/OAK, and GA of a Material Control and Accountability Shipper/Receiver Agreement for shipment of the GA IFM.
May 2003	Fabrication procedures completed for the machine fabrication of the NAC Basket (Top Module) and Spacers to be used for NAC-LWT transport of the GA IFM.
June 2003	Finalization and approval of a Shipper/Receiver Agreement between GA, NEEL, DOE/OAK, and DOE/ID.
July 2003	Development and issuance of specific procedures for the loading and shipment of the IFM from GA to the INEEL.
August 2003	Preparation and issuance of a job-specific nuclear safety evaluation of the IFM loading operations, and a pre-job radiological safety study to determine expected personnel radiological doses and permitted stay times for individual tasks.
August 2003	Fabrication of NAC Basket (Top Module) and Spacer to be utilized in the NAC-LWT cask for IFM transport completed.
August 2003	Witnessed fit-up of the NAC Basket (Top Module) and Spacer inside the NAC-LWT cask cavity and the operational checkout of auxiliary NAC transfer equipment.
September 2003	Application for and acquisition of a specific amendment to the GA site- wide U.S. NRC Radioactive Material License to allow for the handling and high lift of the GA IFM storage casks.
September 2003	Formal GA Readiness Review for IFM shipment activities.
September 2003	Performance of operational IFM transfer practice runs, utilizing the mock-up IFM canister and storage cask, and specialty reach tools and grapples, (9/4/03 thru 9/11/03).
September 2003	Notification to state governor's designees of the planned shipment through the states of California, Nevada, Arizona, Utah, and Idaho, (as required by 10CFR73), and arrangement for continuous highway escort of the shipment by state and/or local law enforcement throughout the transport route,
September 16, 2003	Receipt, inspection, set up, and operational checkout of the NAC-LWT shipping cask and auxiliary equipment at GA. (See <u>Photo 9</u>)
September 17, 2003	Performance of final operational dry runs utilizing mock-up IFM canister and storage cask.
September 18, 2003	Final GA Readiness Review Committee review and approval to proceed with actual IFM transfer/cask loading actions.
September 19, 2003	Preparation and issuance of a final job-specific GA Health Physics Radiological Work Permit for IFM transfer/cask loading operations.
September 19, 2003	Safe handling, lift, and positioning in the TRIGA Mark III Dry Pit of the two GA storage casks containing the IFM.
September 20, 2003	Free-air transfer of highly radioactive IFM canisters from GA storage casks to the NAC Basket/NAC Interim Transfer System (ITS), and the

	subsequent loading of the IFM-loaded NAC Basket into the NAC-LWT shipping cask utilizing the NAC Dry Transfer System (DTS). (See <u>Photo 10</u> (set))
September 20, 2003	Closure, assembly, radiological survey, leak testing, and packaging of the loaded NAC-LWT shipping cask for transport.
September 22, 2003	Inspection and repair of the Tri-State Motor Transit (TSMT) trailer and tractor utilized for transport of the NAC-LWT, in accordance with the standards of the Commercial Vehicle Safety Alliance (CVSA).
September 23, 2003	Dispatch of the loaded NAC-LWT shipping cask from GA, San Diego, CA, for transport to the INEEL, Idaho Falls, ID. (See <u>Photo 11</u>)
September 23, 2003	Armed vehicle escort over the entire highway transport route by State law enforcement personnel through the affected states of California, Nevada, Arizona, Utah, and Idaho, $(9/23/03 - 9/24/03)$.
September 23,2003	Radiological survey, characterization, packaging, and shipment of the two empty GA storage casks and project-related low-level radioactive waste from GA, San Diego, CA, to Alaron Corporation, Wampum, PA, for decontamination and disposal. (See <u>Photo 12</u>)
September 23, 2003	EM Mission Completed (See Photo 13)
September 24, 2003	Receipt at INEEL INTEC facility of the loaded NAC-LWT shipping cask transport vehicle.
September 25, 2003	Preparation and transmittal of required U.S. DOE and U.S. NRC Nuclear Material Transaction Report, DOE/NRC Form DP-741, to document the transfer of the Special Nuclear Material (SNM) contained in the IFM between GA and INEEL.
October 7, 2003	Off-loading of NAC Basket, containing GA IFM, from the NAC-LWT cask into the IFSF at the INEEL INTEC facility.
October 8, 2003	Dispatch of empty NAC-LWT cask from INEEL for transport to Alaron Corporation, Wampum, PA.
September 8, 2004	CD-4 Approved for the Closeout of the Project and the Transfer of GA Project files to the Office of Legacy Management

Page Photo 1

A PHOTO DOCUMENTATION OF HOT CELL FACILITY D& D PROJECT OPERATIONS



GA Hot Cell Facility Structure

Photo 1



Interior of Hot Cell Facility



Remote Handled Category 3 LLW to Hanford

Photo 2



IFM Transferred from the HCF to another On-site Location









HCF Decontamination Activities



Shipment of 8 Manipulators, 1 Periscope, 1 PaR, and 1 Metallograph to GE

Photo 5



Dismantlement of Roof and Exterior Walls



Dismantlement of Interior Walls and Ceilings







Dismantlement of High Level Cell, Low Level Cell and Metallurgy Cell





Dismantlement of Building Below Ground Service Lines Photo 7



Dismantlement of HCF Completed Photo 8



Receipt of the NAC-LWT Shipping Cask



Receipt, Inspection, Set-up, and Operational Checkout of the NAC-LWT Shipping Cask



Positioning of the 2 Storage Casks Containing IFMs in the GA TRIGA Mark III Pit





Transfer System with Loaded NAC Basket and the Subsequent Loading of the IFM Loaded Basket into the NAC-LWT Cask Utilizing the NAC Transfer System





Loaded NAC-LWT Shipping Cask



DOE General Atomics D&D Team



Dispatch of the Loaded NAC-LWT Shipping Cask to INEEL



Shipment of the 2 GA Storage Casks and IFM Generated LLW Off-site for Disposal

Photo 12



EM Mission Completed - September 2003

1. BACKGROUND

With the decline in nuclear fission research and the increasing development surrounding the General Atomic (GA) San Diego site in the early 1990s, GA's management made a decision that it was appropriate to decontaminate and decommission (D&D) its Hot Cell Facility (HCF) and the associated yard area. GA submitted a request to the Department of Energy requesting assistance. The facility was regulated under GA's Special Nuclear Materials license with the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) and byproduct materials license with the State of California Department of Health Services Radiological Health Branch (CAL-RHB).

DOE discussions with GA led to an agreed cost sharing arrangement for the D&D based upon the utilization of the Facility for the DOE compared to the GA commercial work. The split was determined to be seventy-six percent (76%) DOE/ twenty four percent (24%) commercial (private GA work) based on an examination of records. Work was initiated in 1993 to inventory the material and equipment in the facility for disposition, dispose of legacy waste material from previous contracts, determine/characterize the magnitude and extent of contamination, and prepare D&D plans and supporting documents. This work, termed Phase 1, was performed under Contract DE-AC03-84SF11962 at a cost to the DOE of \$11M. A new, sole-source, cost-shared contract was placed as a letter contract in August 1995 and definitized in January 1996. The tasks included completing the Hot Cell Facility and Yard Area decontamination, dismantlement, and remediation and packaging and shipping the Irradiated Fuel Materials (IFMs) to a DOE site for interim storage. This included removing contaminated material, shipping the waste to a DOE waste repository, storing the IFM and eventually transferring the material to a DOE site, and completing the confirmatory surveys and associated documentation for the Project. This work, termed Phases 2 and 3, was performed under Contract DE-AC0395SF20798 at a cost to the DOE of \$23,396K. Plans for relocation and on-site storage of the IFM in shielded casks were included in the event (subsequently the case) that the fuel could not be removed to a DOE site in time to avoid interference with the decommissioning effort. Costs to relocate and the on-site storage of the materials are included in the total project (Phase 2 and 3) cost of \$23,396K.

1.1. Facility History

The HCF was located at GA's main site, a 60-acre complex on Torrey Pines Mesa in San Diego, California, just southwest of the convergence of US Interstate Highways 5 and 805, Figures 1 and 2. The GA main site is approximately 300 feet above sea level, 1 mile from the Pacific Ocean, and 13 miles northwest of downtown San Diego. The GA site is located in the center of Torrey Mesa Science Center, a 304-acre industrial park, Figure 3. The HCF construction was completed in 1959, and had approximately 7,400 ft.² of laboratory and remote operations cells. Licensed operations at the HCF included receipt, handling, and shipment of radioactive materials; remote handling, examination, and storage of previously irradiated fuel materials; engineering scale tritium extraction operations and other New Production Reactor development support activities; and development, fabrication, and inspection of UO₂-BeO fuel materials. GA had maintained the HCF in primarily a

surveillance and maintenance mode in accordance with license conditions since 1991, when research and development activities at the Hot Cell essentially stopped.



Figure 1 Project Location Relative to the San Diego, CA Area



Figure 2 Hot Cell Facility (Building 23) Relative to the General Atomics Main Site



Figure 3 Hot Cell Facility Site Relative to the General Atomics Main Site

Prior to developing the Decommissioning Plan, Document Number PC-000423/4, GA performed extensive radiological and hazardous materials characterization of the HCF and associated site. Utilizing this characterization data, GA carefully considered the alternatives for decommissioning (leave in place, entombment, dismantlement, or decommissioning in place) and DOE determined that the most favorable and cost effective alternative was complete facility dismantlement. Therefore, the final release survey for the HCF consisted of a direct radiation survey and the sampling and analysis of the HCF site/soils only. The wastes from HCF dismantlement and subsequent site/soil remediation consisted of soil, asphalt and concrete rubble, construction material debris, and facility equipment. Survey methods established in the Decommissioning Plan and the subsequent final survey plan submitted to NRC and CAL-RHB provided means to demonstrate compliance with the criteria for release to unrestricted use allowing disposal at sanitary and commercial landfills. When materials did not meet the criteria for release to unrestricted use, the DOE had approved the removal of all project-generated waste from the designated GA site to an approved federal and/or commercial disposal site(s).

1.2. Project Purpose

The purpose of the Project was to decontaminate and dismantle the Hot Cell facility, remediate the associated Yard Area to obtain regulatory release of the HCF site to unrestricted use, and to ship the DOE owned legacy irradiated fuel materials from the GA Main Site, San Diego, CA to the Idaho National Engineering and Environmental Laboratory (INEEL), Idaho, Falls, Idaho for interim storage. This purpose was achieved September 23, 2004 with the removal of radiological and other contaminants from the site, obtaining regulatory release of the HCF site to unrestricted use, and the shipment of the IFMs to INEEL.

2. FACILITY DESCRIPTION AND STATUS

As a result of the decontamination and decommissioning activities performed, all associated equipment has been removed, the Hot Cell Facility has been completely dismantled, the Yard Area remediated to below release levels for a future industrial land use scenario, and the DOE legacy IFMs shipped to INEEL for interim storage. All waste has been removed from the site. Initial grading was performed in the yard area to alleviate physical hazards from pits and trenches extant at the time of release. Clean dirt was then stockpiled on the site. Final grading and compacting has been completed.

3. DECOMMISSIONING OBJECTIVES (INCLUDING TECHNICAL APPROACH)

The objective of the Hot Cell D&D Project was to obtain regulatory release of the site to unrestricted use. Prior to development of the Decommissioning Plan, GA performed extensive radiological and hazardous materials characterization of the HCF and associated site. Utilizing this characterization data, GA carefully considered the four alternatives for decommissioning presented in NRC Regulatory Guide 1.86 (leave in place, entombment, dismantlement, or decommissioning in place) and determined that the most favorable and cost effective alternative was complete facility dismantlement. The four alternative evaluations are summarized below.

- <u>Leave in Place</u>—Evaluated and not considered as an acceptable option due to the extensive contamination within the Facility requiring continued surveillance and maintenance and the development of other facilities in close proximity to the GA site. This alternative would not result in release to unrestricted use.
- <u>Entombment</u>—Evaluated and not considered as an acceptable option due to the contamination detected in the soil around the Facility requiring continued surveillance and access control. This alternative would not result in release to unrestricted use.
- <u>Dismantlement</u>—In this alternative, the dismantlement of the Facility would be performed, including removal of the Facility structure, and remediation of the soil

around the Facility, as necessary, followed by NRC and State of California inspections and release of the site to unrestricted use.

• <u>Decommissioning in Place</u>—In this alternative, decommissioning of the Facility would be performed with the structure left in place, followed by NRC and State of California inspections and release to unrestricted use. This alternative was evaluated and was not considered as an acceptable option due to the extensive dismantlement required for access to areas that are contaminated. An example was the HEPA exhaust ducts that were buried under the walls of the hot cells. This process, when carried out in all necessary areas, would leave the building in an unusable condition.

The dismantlement alternative was the one selected. An Environmental Assessment (Ref. 5) including consideration for endangered species, was conducted. It resulted in a Finding of No Significant Impact (FONSI).

Prior to the start of decontamination, decommissioning, and dismantlement of the Facility, a detailed Project Management Plan, Document No. PC-000448-1 (Ref. 6) was prepared and decommissioning procedures were in place. Principal activities had ceased and the Facility was unoccupied. Health Physics (HP) control points were established outside of the building. Selected materials and equipment were removed from the Facility for salvaging or packaging for disposal. In addition, external electrical lines were supplied to the systems essential for Facility operation as necessary to avoid interruption of service and hazards inside the building. These systems include the HEPA blowers, the air compressors, outlets for portable lighting and electrical equipment, and emergency services. A readiness review was held to ensure that all preparations were complete prior to the start of decommissioning.

This preparation phase was followed by dismantlement activities. Contaminated systems were removed, packaged, and shipped to a low-level radioactive waste disposal facility. Decontamination of the Facility was performed concurrently with the system removal activity. There were two parallel tasks during dismantlement. One was the decontamination and dismantlement of the rooms surrounding the main building structure and the other was the decontamination of the hot cells. The decontamination of the rooms included a variety of techniques; the predominant one was abrasive cleaning of the concrete surfaces. The interior of the hot cells was cleaned using remotely operated cleaning methods followed by abrasive cleaning.

When all contamination had been removed or fixed and the cells cleaned, a readiness review was held to ensure that all preparations for shutdown of the HEPA system had been completed and the roof of the building could be opened. Following this, the building was dismantled and removed as clean waste or shipped to burial as contaminated waste. With the building removed, the cell structure followed by the concrete foundation could be addressed. Finally, buried items including wells, hot drain lines, and HEPA ducting could be pulled out. At this time, the yard area remediation was also undertaken. This was followed by HP surveys and additional remediation until release criteria were met in all areas.

4. WORK PERFORMED

4.1. Project Management

The Project was managed to a limited set of DOE Orders since the site was regulated under NRC and State of California licenses. The DOE Orders implemented included DOE Order 4700.1, "Project Management System," Part A / Attachment II-3, Chapter II, Part B; DOE Order 5480.19 and Change 1, "Conduct of Operations Requirements for DOE Facilities;" and DOE Order 5820.2A, "Radioactive Waste Management," Chapter III. Because GA is a private facility and in recognition of the NRC and State of California licenses, only these DOE Orders were applied.

Work was controlled to a Work Breakdown Structure, <u>Appendix 1</u>, and progress reporting was performed based on earned value. Each Fiscal Year, a Multi-Year Work Plan was prepared with planned scope, funding, and performance profiles utilized for status. During several years of the Project, additional funding was provided to accomplish unforeseen tasks or to accomplish additional objectives originally planned for the next year. Requirements for unforeseen and substantial additional funding were associated with much larger than expected radioactive waste volumes. This occurred when the amount of contaminated soil proved much larger than estimated. As a result, 174 intermodal shipments were made when only 60 were originally planned. Later in the project, soil, which was believed clean, was found to have hot particle contamination and could not be cleaned and released with assurance. This result necessitated 100 burrito wrap soil shipments to the Nevada Test Site Waste Facility, which had not been foreseen and planned.

4.2. **Project Engineering**

Readiness reviews were held prior to initiating major activities. A readiness review was required prior to initiation of decommissioning to ensure that all plans and documents were in place and personnel were trained. Subsequently, readiness reviews were held prior to initiation of waste shipments to Hanford, prior to initiation of Remote Handled Category 3 waste shipments in the FSV-1 cask, and prior to HEPA shutdown at the Facility. A number of less formal assessments and inspections were held prior to specific actions or operations to ensure that all equipment, training, and procedures were in place.

Preparations for waste shipping to both Hanford and Nevada Test Sites required considerable effort to prepare plans, procedures, train the staff, and host the site audits by the waste receiving organizations. Findings from audits were resolved with waste organization concurrence before shipping could commence. Preparations for shipment to Envirocare were somewhat less detailed but the same questions had to be addressed. Arrangements also had to be made for prepayment of waste burial fees. Hanford fees were paid through the contracts with GA, but NTS and Envirocare fees were paid by DOE.

The Project was organized with a Project Manager as the head of the team and with a small operations staff (administrative assistant/configuration control, planner, and project operations manager) acting as the project office, see <u>Appendix 2</u>. At the job site, the work was managed by a Site Engineer, who utilized facility drawings and other records to plan the sequence for removal of equipment, non-structural building parts and finally the structure. He was supported by a Principal Investigator responsible for the facility until all radioactivity was removed. Other staff included a Health Physics Manager, a Shipping Manager, a Safety Engineer, Quality Assurance Engineer, and, early in the project, a Waste Manager and a Hazardous Materials Manager. These lead professionals were supported in the field by operations and health physics technicians. Several contractors supported the dismantlement including asbestos removal and concrete cutting, electrical, and HVAC. Project support functions were provided by GA organizations including contracts, purchasing, finance, facilities, records management, licensing, nuclear compliance, and the Nuclear Waste Processing Facility (NWPF). The Phase 1 and 2/3 Schedules in <u>Appendices 3</u> and <u>4</u> display the major component tasks and their durations.

4.3. Site Characterization

A Hazards Analysis (Reference 3) was prepared for the Hot Cell Facility (HCF) at General Atomics in response to guidance from the DOE and attendant standards. The purpose of the Hazards Analysis was to establish a hazard classification for the HCF and to identify approximate levels of risk to workers and the public due to future activities involving decontamination and decommissioning (D&D) of the HCF. Also, the safety importance of design controls and administrative procedures during D&D was evaluated.

HCF operations considered in the Hazards Analysis included characterization of the site by HCF workers; packaging of contaminated debris, parts and equipment, and decontamination and dismantlement of equipment. Removal of the irradiated fuel from the wells in the HCF, placing the materials into interim storage casks; movement of the fuel to another building at GA for temporary storage and the transfer of the fuel from the interim storage cask to the shipping cask were also considered. Finally, decontamination of building/structure surfaces and removal of contaminated parts, equipment and waste generated by decontamination operations were included.

Methods of analysis included a Preliminary Hazards Analysis to identify potential accident situations and logic diagrams to develop and group accident scenarios. Generic accident statistics were applied to the site specific conditions and operations to estimate the likelihood of accident scenarios. Consequence analyses and use of a risk matrix diagram to illustrate the approximate levels of risk were also employed.

Two key potential accident scenarios were identified in the Hazards Analysis. Scenario A is a release of radioactivity or hazardous waste. Scenario B is a release of external radiation. Calculated probabilities and consequences of the scenarios were found to correspond to the acceptable risk portion of the risk matrix diagram, namely extremely low risk rating for Scenarios A and B. No additional Technical Safety Requirements or operational restrictions were considered to be necessary.

Estimates were made of the total maximum radioactivity inventory in the HCF. This inventory was compared, isotope by isotope, with minimum thresholds for Hazard Category 2 and 3 facilities. It was found that the radioactive inventory corresponded to a Hazard Category 3 facility with a wide margin below Category 2 levels. Hazardous materials have been identified and the majority removed. There were no significant amounts highly hazardous materials as defined by OSHA in 29 CFR 1910.119 and extremely hazardous substances as defined in 40 CFR 355. Principal hazardous materials (as defined in 40 CFR 302.4) were asbestos and lead. The bulk of the asbestos was in non-friable form and procedures were implemented to preclude airborne dust. No accident was identified that could impact persons off-site, either for radioactive or for hazardous material exposure. Therefore, the HCF was concluded to be a Hazard Category 3 facility.

4.4. Alternatives Assessment

The alternatives assessed for the Hot Cell are described in Section 3, "Decommissioning Objectives." With buried HEPA ducts, hot drain lines, wells, a concrete pit, and some contamination detected by core sampling as well as several substantially contaminated rooms; it was judged extremely difficult to obtain unrestricted release without dismantling the building. An extensive review was conducted by the DOE and confirmed that this was the most cost-effective way to reach the objective.

4.5. Site Preparation

The site was prepared by first ceasing operations, a difficult step for any facility with a history and utility for new programs. Access to the building and yard was controlled and materials crossing into the area were scrutinized to ensure that no hazardous materials entered. This was done to prevent the generation of additional mixed waste.

All items in the facility were inventoried and storage of material was improved, if required, to meet requirements. Facility maintenance was performed where it was clear that the building or equipment would have to last for several more years e.g. roof leaks were repaired and alarm systems updated.

Trailers were moved into place to support the crew without utilizing the facility itself. These included office quarters and bathrooms. Contamination monitors (two PCM-2s) were positioned at the exit and their use was required. With the support personnel out of the facility, gas was shut off and heaters were brought in locally if required. Electrical distribution was provided externally wherever practicable (some exceptions included the cells and other inaccessible areas).

Staging and loading areas were identified and foot traffic patterns through the building were rearranged to limit the number of step-off points and provide for donning and doffing protective clothing.

Necessary equipment and supplies were assembled with storage sea-land containers utilized as temporary buildings for these purposes. Operating equipment was obtained and dedicated to the project including several forklifts, a man-lift, and a backhoe. Equipment for occasional use such as special forklifts, truck-cranes, concrete cutting or coring equipment, and scaffolding was rented as needed provided that there was little risk of radiological contamination. Subcontractors supplied their own specialized equipment.

As the work progressed, the personnel traffic patterns and controlled areas were altered to suit current needs. Ventilation ducts were rerouted several times to ensure adequate airflow and direction. As material staging and shipping became a large part of the job, truck scales were installed when bulk loading of shipments called for accurate axle weights.

4.6. Decommissioning Operations

Programs over the years of Hot Cell Facility (HCF) operations resulted in contamination of the HCF and surrounding yard with various radionuclides (primarily Cobalt 60, Cesium 137, Europium 156, Strontium 90, Uranium and Thorium). Remediation of the HCF and surrounding yard was accomplished in three phases:

Phase 1 – Site and facility characterization and disposal of legacy waste and the relocation and on-site storage of 0.0052 MTHM of DOE owned legacy irradiated fuel materials;

Phase 2 – Implementation of the D&D Plan, soil remediation, waste handling and disposal; and

Phase 3 – Confirmatory studies and final site release for unrestricted use.

Phase I was largely one of planning and preparation for D&D with development of plans for addressing the IFMs and the Facility. Characterization by sampling of the Facility and surrounding site was also a major focus. In addition, waste inventory, removal, packaging, and shipping to a treatment, storage and disposal facility (Hanford) was accomplished. Phase 1 covered the period from April 1993, through October 1995. Waste shipping was initiated in January 1995, and much of the remote-handled, Category 3 Low-Level Waste stored in the cells was shipped in July 1995. The Decommissioning Plan was submitted to the regulatory agencies in July 1995. Administrative preparations for Phases 2 and 3 were accomplished during this period.

Phase 2 covered the D&D of the building and the remediation of the site. It was initiated in August 1995 but, with the discovery of hot particle contamination in the soil stored in the Soil Staging Area, was not completed until June 2001. During this Phase, building equipment was removed, asbestos was addressed, non-load-bearing walls were removed, and the building was dismantled. Radioactive waste from the building was characterized, packaged, and shipped to Hanford. Mixed waste was treated at the NWPF to remove the hazardous component and dispositioned as radioactive waste or shipped to an appropriate TSD facility. Clean waste was shipped to Hanford in boxes where contamination levels and packaging logistics dictated and later in bulk shipments to Envirocare in intermodal boxes. Soil in the soil staging area was shipped in bulk "burrito wrap" packages to NTS.

Equipment associated with the cell operations which could be reused was recycled to other users.

Phase 3 covered the confirmatory surveys and site release and was completed in August 2000, except for the extra project work associated with the Soil Staging Area (SSA) material. Thus the phase was complete in September 2001.

A comprehensive chronology of events is presented at the front of this document to give the reader a concise summary of the Project events.

Although operations generally went as planned and health and safety practices were emphasized throughout the effort, there were 5 Reportable Incidents. There were no serious injuries during the project.

The first incident was the slight depressurization of the Fort Saint Vrain (FSV)-1 shipping cask upon opening at the Hanford burial site. The FSV-1 shipping cask was used to ship the Remote Handled Category 3 LLW to Hanford. A small amount of contamination was released but clean-up was quickly accomplished and no personnel were injured. It was determined that the slight difference in elevation (400 feet) between closing the cask and opening at Hanford along with any bulk temperature change of the contents during shipping was sufficient to cause the pressure. After this incident, a vacuum was drawn on the cask prior to shipment and pressure was equalized through the cask system upon arrival prior to lid removal.

The second incident was a paperwork discrepancy where a shipment designation required by new regulations was incomplete. This was quickly remedied and personnel were retrained, as shipping documentation must be complete and correct.

The third incident was a fire in the Low-Level Cell which was limited to a plastic paint tray ignited by torch cutting sparks drawn by the ventilation draft under a door. The strippable paint, used to remove contamination from the cell walls, was not flammable and did not burn. The HEPA system operated within limits through the incident and soot deposition on the cell walls was quickly removed.

The fourth incident was a more serious fire during cell interior liner removal but again the HEPA system operated within limits. This fire was ignited when torch cutting slag fell into a plastic covered ventilation "elephant trunk" used to draw fumes away from the welder. The plastic cover reached ignition temperature and burned to the screen at the HEPA system inlet. There was no other flammable material in the cell, which had been cleaned to the walls. Immediate action by the Fire Watch got the welder out and the building evacuated but one technician suffered smoke inhalation sufficient to justify an overnight stay in a hospital for observation. He was subsequently released with no permanent injury.

The fifth incident was reported when loose contamination was discovered during removal of a shipment cover tarp upon arrival in the burial area at the Hanford site. Although it was determined that the cover retained the material during shipment, the loose paint flakes with

radioactive contamination should have been controlled inside the package. In hindsight, the sealed, painted well being shipped should have been wrapped in plastic, an adequate "container" where there is risk of having this type of contamination.

Weather was not a significant factor in the D&D process. Only one shipment was delayed when rain prevented truck loading. Rain in San Diego is usually limited to a few months in the winter season and the average rainfall is only 10 inches. Near the coast, there are neither extremes in temperature nor high winds.

However, rain did affect the soil remediation when runoff filled the pit created by removal of the Service Gallery Storage Pit. Remediation had not been completed and slight contamination above release limits was found in the silt. It was assumed that the pit would dry out and the silt could be removed. Unfortunately, the clay layer in the soil retained the water and evaporation was extremely slow. Further, the silt was so finely divided that Brownian motion held it in suspension. After 6 months of observation and an abortive attempt to filter the water (the filter quickly clogged) the project purchased storage tanks and a number of children's wading pools Water was transferred to the storage tanks and then periodically to the pools. Slow, natural evaporation was utilized to remove several thousand gallons of clean water from the contaminated sludge. The water and sludge was also utilized in making concrete to stabilize waste at the NWPF. Although requiring a long time, this operation did not affect the overall schedule as radiological surveys and remediation continued in the yard area throughout the period.

Project completion schedule and cost were affected by the discovery of hot particles contaminating the soil and asphalt (over 50,000 cubic feet) removed from the yard area and placed in the SSA as clean. Although sampling showed that the soil was, in bulk, below release limits, it did not identify the particle problem. Attempts to remove the particles by detection through gamma scans at the surface proved uncertain and there are no established release criteria for clean soil with hot particles. To avoid a long and uncertain regulatory review with both the NRC and the State of California, it was determined by GA and DOE that the soil should be dispositioned as radioactive waste. It was subsequently shipped to NTS in 100 "burrito wrap" bulk shipments and 11 Y-4 boxes of asphalt. Arranging for funding, planning, meeting requirements, and shipping added approximately 1 year to the overall clean-up schedule.

4.7. Waste Disposal

Radioactive waste from the removal of stored material, building dismantlement, and some yard remediation was sent to the DOE site at Hanford, Washington. Bulk soil with radioactive contamination was shipped to Envirocare of Utah (under an agreement between Envirocare, the Army Corps of Engineers, and DOE) and the DOE Nevada Test Site. Contaminated lead was also sent to Envirocare under a DOE sponsored program. Mixed waste was sent to DSSI, Alaron, and Perma-Fix with burial of residuals at Envirocare. Clean waste was sent to the local Miramar Landfill. Hazardous only waste was removed by a contractor. Where practicable, equipment was recycled, notably to GE (Hot Cell Manipulators) and Hot Cell Services (Hot Cell Windows).

4.8. Post-Decommissioning Radiological Survey

Post-decommissioning radiological surveys could not be initiated until all structures, buried lines, and wells were removed. Further, dirt with known contamination was removed, packaged, and shipped to burial. This action reduced the background to near natural levels and permitted meaningful post-decommissioning surveys. In addition, based on the conditions found as D&D was completed, a Final Radiological Survey Plan was prepared and submitted to the NRC and State of California for review in May 1999. All GA final and confirmatory radiological surveys were completed in March 2000 (Ref. 7). The yard area was subsequently surveyed by ORISE (Ref. 8), NRC, and to a more limited degree by the State of California. Release to unrestricted use was given by NRC in July 2000 and by the State of California in August 2000. Disposition of remaining hot particle contaminated soil and asphalt, removed from the site in 1999 to a nearby lay-down area termed the Soil Staging Area (SSA) was completed in June 2001.

4.9. Post-Decommissioning Hazardous Chemical Condition

Based on characterization studies, no significant areas of hazardous chemical contamination were identified in the Hot Cell Yard Area. Because the building and significant portions of the upper soil layer were removed in connection with radioactive contamination remediation, the situation with respect to hazardous chemical contamination is now even more certain. Further, extensive hazardous constituent sampling and analysis (both for Federal RCRA and State of California Constituents) was carried out over a three-year period from FY 1998 through FY 2000. Characterization was performed on the excavated surface soil from the Hot Cell Yard Area by laboratory analysis of samples. No hazardous contamination was found. Soil and debris was subsequently shipped as radioactive-only, low-level waste to Envirocare of Utah directly from the yard and to Nevada Test Site from the SSA. This exercise was carried out to support shipment and disposal under transportation regulations and the respective Waste Acceptance Criteria. The Hot Cell soil was analyzed for Federal and state of California hazardous metals and hazardous organic compounds to provide a basis for the hazardous waste determination. The SSA soil was analyzed for Federal and State of California hazardous metals. The Hot Cell Yard Area soil that remains came from locations below the non-hazardous excavated Hot Cell soil that was shipped for disposal and below the non-hazardous SSA soil that was also shipped for disposal. Since the remaining Hot Cell Yard Area soil was beneath non-hazardous soil, it is logical to conclude that the remaining Hot Cell Yard Area soil is non-hazardous material. The (negative) sampling survey results are compiled in Reference 9.

The comprehensive sampling and analysis program supporting soil shipments was carried out following the protocols outlined in EPA SW-846 along with specific GA QA requirements stated in the GA Waste Certification Program sampling and Analysis Plan. In addition, the Hot Cell Yard Area soil that was shipped to Envirocare satisfied the requirements of the Envirocare Waste Acceptance Guidelines; SSA impounded Hot Cell yard soil shipped to NTS satisfied the requirements of the NTS Waste Acceptance Criteria.

In all, 63,000 cubic feet of Hot Cell soil material and debris were shipped to Envirocare in a campaign utilizing 174 Intermodal containers in FY98 (November 1997 through September 1998).

In all, over 56,000 cubic feet of Hot Cell soil removed from the SSA were shipped to NTS in 100 burrito wrap truck shipments in FY01 (March 2001 through May 2001).

Because these soils were removed from various parts of the yard and were above remaining soil at the time of release, it is concluded that the site contains no remaining hazardous component.

4.10. Hot Cell Irradiated Fuel Materials

In September, 2003, General Atomics (GA) successfully packaged and shipped a quantity of U.S. Department of Energy (DOE) owned legacy Irradiated Fuel Materials (IFMs) from the GA Main Site, San Diego, CA, to the Idaho National Engineering and Environmental Laboratory (INEEL), Idaho Falls, ID, for interim storage. This action resulted in the completion of the EM Mission on the GA site. INEEL is storing the GA IFMs at the Irradiated Fuel Storage Facility (IFSF) at the Idaho National Technology and Engineering Center (INTEC).

The IFM packaging and shipment activities performed were funded under Contract No. DE-AC03-95SF20798 under Work Breakdown Structure (WBS) 1.4.8.4.2.4.4.2, entitled "IFM Disposal". All packaging and transportation tasks were successfully completed within budget and on schedule.

The IFMs shipped in this campaign included two separate spent nuclear fuel quantities, identified as High-Temperature Gas-Cooled Reactor (HTGR) and Reduced Enrichment Research and Test Reactor (RERTR) fuels. Receipt of the GA IFM at INEEL complied with the requirements of INEEL Document No. STD-1120, "Standard for Receipt of Spent Nuclear Fuel."

Highway transport of the subject IFMs was conducted in accordance with the requirements of all U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) and U.S. Department of Transportation (DOT) regulations. Containment packaging of the IFMs for highway transport was provided by the NAC International (NAC) Model No. NAC-LWT shipping cask, NRC Certificate of Compliance (CoC) No. 9225, which was specifically amended to authorize transport of the GA IFM.

General Atomics described the shipment process in *Shipment of General Atomics Hot Cell Irradiated Fuel Materials Final Report* (PC-000512), dated December 2003 (Ref. 12).

4.10.1. Consolidation and Initial Packaging of the IFMs

The GA IFMs had been collected and retained in the GA Hot Cell Facility (HCF) archival fuel storage inventory during a succession of Hot Cell Post-Irradiation Examination (PIE)

projects, conducted by GA in support of various DOE-sponsored fuel development programs over the 30+ year active operating history of the GA HCF (1959 through 1992). In November, 1995, as part of the initial actions of active Decontamination and Decommissioning (D&D) of the GA HCF, the subject IFM was remotely inspected, inventoried, and packaged in the HCF, for the purpose of physical removal of the material from that building, and the temporary storage in a separate facility on the GA site. The removal of the IFMs from the GA HCF was necessary to allow for HCF D&D actions to proceed.

As part of the initial IFMs packaging process, the IFMs mass was separated by fuel type into two packaging groups, one IFM group composed of the High-Temperature Gas-cooled Reactor (HTGR) type fuel entities (designated as HTGR/IFMs), and one IFM group composed of the Reduced-Enrichment Research and Test Reactor (RERTR) type fuel (designated as RERTR/IFMs).

The initial packaging of each of the two IFM groups, performed in the GA HCF in November, 1995, involved the remote handling, collection, loading, and weld-encapsulation of the IFM into 304SS-construction Primary and Secondary Enclosures, the design of which allowed for the subsequent installation of the packaged IFM groups into separate, shielded GA-owned storage casks. Design details of these packages are described in "HTGR/RERTR Fuel Materials Characterization and Packaging Report", GA Document No. PC-000384, dated April 2002 (Ref. 10).

The initial packaging of the HTGR/IFMs involved the physical consolidation of several discrete HTGR entities, each of which had originated from specific DOE-sponsored fuel test irradiation programs conducted by GA. These HTGR/IFMs entities, held at GA under the HTGR Advanced Fuel Base Program (DOE Project No. LAF2050100), had been separately controlled, inventoried, and retained as historical samples at the GA Hot Cell Facility (HCF) in shielded, retrievable storage. However, to facilitate handling and disposal of these HTGR items, in July 1992, the DOE granted the authorization to physically consolidate all stored HTGR/IFMs.,

The initial packaging of the RERTR/IFMs did not necessitate DOE authorization for physical consolidation, as this material was received at the GA HCF as a single discrete inventory line item. The RERTR/IFMs were received at the GA HCF in 1985, from the Oak Ridge National Laboratory (ORNL) as irradiated fuel, was held at GA under the RERTR Fuel Base Program (DOE Project No. C400480000), and had been separately controlled, inventoried, and retained as historical samples at the GA HCF in shielded, retrievable storage.

4.10.2. Temporary Storage of the IFMs at GA

GA safely controlled and stored the initially packaged IFMs in two separate unlicensed shipping casks from December, 1995 through September, 2003. Over this time period, GA utilized a succession of three different storage locations on the GA site, including GA Bldgs. 30, 31, and finally Bldg. 21. In each of these storage locations, GA provided appropriate security and radiological/nuclear safety measures necessary for the safe control and surveillance of the stored IFMs. Information related to the temporary storage of the subject
IFMs at GA was provided in GA Document No. PC-000457, entitled "Safeguards and Security Measures for the Irradiated Fuel Material Temporary Storage Facility at General Atomics", Rev. 1, dated January, 2000.

4.10.3. Description of the GA IFMs

Details of GA IFMs characterization methodologies and specific fuel and packaging parameters for both HTGR and RERTR IFMs are contained in *HTGR/RERTR Fuel Materials Characterization Report* (Ref. 10). In order to fully comply with the requirements set forth in INEEL Document No. STD-1120, entitled "Standard for Receipt of Spent Nuclear Fuel", Rev. ID:0, dated 8/31/01 (Ref. 2), it was necessary for GA to complete and submit to INEEL specific forms containing detailed information regarding the IFMs fuel and packaging characteristics. The required information was documented on INEEL forms, entitled "Fuel and Packaging Required Shipper Data (RSD) Forms".

4.10.4. HTGR IFMs

The HTGR IFMs were comprised of a consolidated, previously irradiated fuel mass in three forms, loose coated fuel particles, fuel compacts, and fuel pebbles.

- Coated fuel particles were solid, spheridized, sintered ceramic fuel kernels, composed of UC₂, UCO, UO₂, (Th,U)C₂, or (Th,U)O₂ substrate, isotropically coated with discrete multi-layered fuel particle coatings, composed of pyrolitic carbon (PyC) and silicon carbide (SiC).
- Fuel compacts are multi-coated ceramic fuel particles (described above), bound in solid, cylindrical, injection-molded, high-temperature heat-treated compacts, the binding matrix of which is composed of carbonized graphite shim, coke, and graphite powder.
- Fuel pebbles are multi-coated ceramic fuel particles (described above), bound in solid, spherical, injection-molded, high-temperature heat-treated pebbles, the binding matrix of which is composed of carbonized graphite shim, coke, and graphite powder.

The initial enrichment of the HTGR IFMs varied from 10.0 to 93.15 wt% U-235. The nuclear material and fission product radionuclide content of the HTGR IFMs, decayed to the reference decay date of 9/30/03, is presented in Table 4.10-1.

4.10.5. RERTR IFMs

The RERTR IFMs were comprised of 20 irradiated TRIGA-type 0.512 in. (1.30 cm) diameter. x 22.05 in (56.0 cm) intact length, Incoloy 800H clad fuel elements; 13 of the elements were intact assemblies, the remaining 7 were physically sectioned for post-irradiation examination. The RERTR fuel matrix was a metal alloy comprised of uranium-zirconium hydride. The elements contain three distinct mass loadings of uranium, i.e., 20, 30, and 45 wt% U.

The initial enrichment of the RERTR IFM was approximately 19.7 wt% U-235. The nuclear material and fission/activation product radionuclide content of the RERTR IFMs, decayed to the reference decay date of 9/30/03, is presented below in Table 4.10-1.

	HTGI	R IFM	RERT	R IFM	Total HTG	R+RERTR
Nuclide	Activity (Ci)	Mass (g)	Activity (Ci)	Mass (g)	Activity (Ci)	Mass (g)
H-3	1.96E-01	2.02E-05	1.61E+00	1.66E-04	1.81E+00	1.87E-04
Mn-54	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	2.14E-05	2.58E-09	2.14E-05	2.58E-09
Fe-55	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	4.27E+00	1.94E-03	4.27E+00	1.94E-03
Co-60	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	8.84E-01	8.04E-04	8.84E-01	8.04E-04
Ni-59	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	3.30E-01	4.07E+00	3.30E-01	4.07E+00
Ni-63	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	3.75E+01	8.16E-01	3.75E+01	8.16E-01
Kr-85	5.57E+00	1.39E-02	3.55E+01	8.88E-02	4.11E+01	1.03E-01
Sr-90	1.27E+02	8.45E-01	6.32E+02	4.21E+00	7.59E+02	5.06E+00
Y-90	1.27E+02	6.10E-04	6.32E+02	2.53E-03	7.59E+02	3.14E-03
Tc-99	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	1.40E-01	8.24E+00	1.40E-01	8.24E+00
Ru-106	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	3.43E-03	1.01E-06	3.43E-03	1.01E-06
Sb-125	1.64E-02	1.17E-05	5.97E-01	4.27E-04	6.14E-01	4.38E-04
Cs-134	2.70E-02	2.25E-05	1.71E+00	1.42E-03	1.73E+00	1.44E-03
Cs-137	1.31E+02	1.34E+00	6.91E+02	7.05E+00	8.22E+02	8.39E+00
Pm-147	3.34E-01	3.56E-04	1.22E+01	1.30E-02	1.25E+01	1.33E-02
Sm-151	1.20E+00	4.63E-02	3.16E+00	1.22E-01	4.36E+00	1.68E-01
Eu-154	8.11E-01	5.41E-03	1.28E+01	8.52E-02	1.36E+01	9.06E-02
Eu-155	4.78E-02	3.42E-05	2.15E+00	1.53E-03	2.20E+00	1.57E-03
Th-232	2.10E-04	1.91E+03	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	2.10E-04	1.91E+03
U-233	2.92E-01	3.07E+01	1.71E-07	1.80E-05	2.92E-01	3.07E+01
U-234	3.13E-02	5.05E+00	3.91E-04	6.30E-02	3.17E-02	5.11E+00
U-235	2.27E-04	1.08E+02	7.39E-04	3.52E+02	9.66E-04	4.60E+02
U-236	1.04E-03	1.66E+01	5.61E-03	8.90E+01	6.65E-03	1.06E+02
U-238	3.84E-06	1.16E+01	8.58E-04	2.60E+03	8.62E-04	2.61E+03
Np-237	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	2.48E-03	3.60E+00	2.48E-03	3.60E+00
Pu-238	2.74E+00	1.61E-01	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	2.74E+00	1.61E-01
Pu-239	1.70E-02	2.75E-01	1.30E+00	2.10E+01	1.32E+00	2.13E+01
Pu-240	1.91E-02	8.31E-02	1.35E+00	5.86E+00	1.37E+00	5.94E+00
Pu-241	2.16E+00	1.96E-02	1.95E+02	1.78E+00	1.98E+02	1.80E+00
Pu-242	1.08E-04	2.77E-02	3.35E-03	8.60E-01	3.46E-03	8.88E-01
Total	3.98E+02		2.27E+03		2.66E+03	

Table 4.10-1: RADIONUCLIDE CONTENT OF HTGR AND RERTR IFM,
AS OF 9/30/30

4.10.6. Description of the IFMs Canisters

The HTGR and RERTR IFM were both separately packaged in right-circular cylindrical welded Primary Enclosures, encased inside a welded Secondary Enclosure, with integral lifting bail. The construction material of the Primary and Secondary Enclosures was Type 304 Stainless-Steel (SS) seamless tubing, with end caps of Type 6600 Inconel plate. The lifting bail on each of the Secondary Enclosures was constructed of 0.125" (0.32 cm) diameter Type 304 SS wire rope, the ends of which were threaded through Type 304 SS 0.50" (1.27 cm) square blocks, and affixed with crimped copper stop sleeves.

The HTGR IFM canister external dimensions (i.e., HTGR Secondary Enclosure) were 39.05 in. height x 5.25 in. diameter (99.2 cm h x 13.3 cm dia). The gross weight of the HTGR IFM canister was the combined weight of HTGR fuel materials, 23.52 lb (10.668 kg), plus the weight of the Enclosures, 47.98 lb (21.764 kg), for a total loaded canister weight of 71.50 lb (32.432 kg).

The RERTR IFM canister external dimensions (i.e., RERTR Secondary Enclosure) were 37.25 in. height x 4.75 in. diameter (94.6 cm h x 12.1 cm dia). The gross weight of the RERTR IFM canister was the combined weight of RERTR fuel materials, 23.73 lb (10.766 kg), plus the weight of the Enclosures and non-fuel element components, 52.27 lb (23.708 kg), for a total loaded canister weight of 76.00 lb (34.474 kg).

5. COSTS AND SCHEDULES

The cost objective was to complete the Phases 1, 2 and 3 technical, economic, schedule and quality and reliability objectives within a total estimated cost of \$32,156,146 as stated in the Contracts. Of this amount, \$25,824,146 was DOE's share and \$6,332,000 was GA's share. These costs did not include the packaging and shipment costs of the IFMs to INEEL for interim storage. Total costs provided to GA for the shipment of the IFMs to INEEL was of \$1,872,769. Final contract value is currently \$34,028,915 with DOE's share at \$27,696,915 and GA's share at \$6,332,000. Including the burial fees at Envirocare and NTS, the total project cost is \$35,099,915.

The schedule objective was to complete the Phases 1, 2 and 3 technical and economic objectives by August 2000 and the shipment of the IFMs to INEEL by September 2003. This was accomplished. The originally adopted schedule for Phases 2 and 3 is presented in the Decommissioning Plan, Document No. PC-000423. The schedule implemented for the Phase 1 activities is presented in <u>Appendix 3</u>. The schedule implemented for Phases 2 and 3 is presented in <u>Appendix 4</u>. The schedule implemented for Hot Cell irradiated fuel materials is presented in <u>Appendix 5</u>.

The chronology at the front of this document shows the times for actual accomplishment of key milestones.

While initial estimates based on unrestricted funding indicated that the D&D could be accomplished in 3 years, a 5-year program was planned based on the availability of funding.

The Phase 2/3 Contract was initiated in August of 1995 and definitized in February 1996. Later, Small Site Initiative funding was made available and accelerated the clean-up to 4 years. This provided higher funding in the earlier years than otherwise planned. Although the dismantlement of the building was complete at the end of calendar 1998, remediation of the yard area soil and Health Physics surveys (Ref. 7) were not completed until March 2000. This was the result of the need for many 100% surveys and remediation to address hot particles and buried surfaces, which were originally contaminated at grade. Also, surveys were performed using a gamma detector at grade level and an alpha/beta detector for confirmation against release criteria. An additional year was required to put funding in place and remove the contaminated soil/asphalt from the SSA.

Table 5-1 presents the actual contract funding by fiscal year. Costs shown represent the DOE and GA contributions.

Table 5-2 presents the total project costs by major WBS element. The costs associated with the IFMs represented planning, procedure development, characterization, packaging, transfer to a storage area, storage, and the preparation and shipment to of the IFMs to INEEL for interim storage. Actual dismantlement of the building, excluding all preparation and waste disposition, costed about \$200K.

The GA contracts are now in the DOE closeout process. When the final invoices are submitted and certified, the final Total Project Cost will be determined.

Table 5-1 PROJECT DOE FUNDING PROFILE BY FISCAL YEAR

Fiscal Year	Amount (\$)
FY1993	1,500,000
FY 1994	5,788,000
FY 1995	2,430,000
Total DOE Cost ¹	9,718,000
Total GA Cost ²	1,377,000

Phase 1 Contract DOE, AC03-84SF11962

•	
Fiscal Year	Amount (\$)
FY1995	549,045
FY 1996	3,000,000
FY 1997	3,708,944
FY 1998	4,269,439
FY 1999	3,232,393
FY 2000	627,000
FY 2001	719,325
Total Phases 2 & 3 DOE Costs ¹	16,106,146
Total GA Costs ²	4,955,000
Total Phases 2 & 3 Costs (1 + 2)	21,061,146
FY2002 (IFMs Activities)	298,000
FY2003 (IFMs activities)	1,574,769
Total IFM Costs ³	1,872,769
Total GA IFMs Costs ⁴	0
Total DOE Cost ⁽¹⁺³⁾	17,978,915
Total GA ⁽²⁺⁴⁾	4,955,000
Total Costs ⁽¹⁺²⁺³⁺⁴⁾	22,933,915

Phase 2 and 3 Contract, DE-AC03-95SF20798

Total Phase 1 Cost (1 + 2)

11,095,000

Total Project Cost, Phases 1, 2, and 3 and IFMs Disposition

	DOE (\$)	$DOE^{1}(\$)$	GA (\$)	Total (\$)
Total Project Cost, Phases 1, 2, and 3 plus	27,696,915	1,071,000	6,332,000	35,099,915
Irradiated Fuel Material Activities plus the				
burial fees to Envirocare and NTS paid				
directly by DOE.				

¹ Burial fees to Envirocare and NTS that were paid directly by DOE. Hence, this cost is outside the DOE/GA contracts.

WBS Element	Phase 1 (\$K)	Phases 2 & 3 (\$K)	IFMs (\$K)	Sub-Total (\$K)	Items Paid Separately ² (\$K)	Total (\$K)	Percent of Grand Total
IFMs	4,820	410	0	5,230	0	5,230	15
Maintenance	892	3,156	0	4,048	0	4,048	12
Compliance	392	1,109	289.7	1,790.7	0	1,790.7	5
Plans/Procedures/Training	1,310	390	0	1,700	0	1,700	5
Characterization	986	0	0	986	0	986	3
Materials & Services	0	3,689	25.7	3,714.7	0	3,714.7	11
Operations/Site	302	633	0	935	0	935	3
Supervision.							
Quality Assurance	184	1,231	0	1,415	0	1,415	4
Structural Decon/	0	1,151	0	1,151	0	1,151	3
Dismantlement							
Waste Disposal	1,256	6,257	0	7,513	1,071	8,584	24
DOE Requirements/	284	655	0	939	0	939	3
Requests							
Project Management	479	1,540	479.1	2,498.1	0	2,498.1	7
Final Surveys	0	673	0	673	0	673	2
Other	190	167	1,078.3	1,435.3	0	1,435.3	4
TOTAL	\$11,095	\$21,061	\$1,873	\$34,029	\$1,071	\$35,100	100

Table 5 2TOTAL PROJECT COST BY MAJOR WBS ELEMENT

6. WASTE VOLUMES

Waste volumes are summarized in Tables 6-1 and 6-2. Table 6-1 presents the baseline estimates for waste volume by waste category compared to the actual values. Of particular significance is the actual volume of radioactively contaminated soil, which is 14 times the projected amount. This increase led to a cost addition of approximately \$1.5 million for shipping and disposal of the contaminated soil at Envirocare and NTS. Construction debris was also greater than expected (by a factor of 4) but was offset by lower than expected values in other areas.

Table 6-2 presents a summary of the radioactive waste shipped by waste category and package type. All waste shipped for burial was solid in form. All liquids generated, except a small amount of mixed waste sent to DSSI for incineration, were solidified or treated at the NWPF to yield a solid waste form.

TABLE 6-1

SUMMARY OF HOT CELL D&D WASTE STREAM TOTALS

	Baseline/D&D Plan Projected Waste Volumes (ft ³)	Actual Disposal Volumes (ft ³)
LLW (Construction Debris)	22,900	94,438
MLLW (Construction Debris)	920	486
Clean (Construction Debris)	22,100	11,000
Soil (Clean)	0	0
Soil (Contaminated)	8,300	117,083
Soil (Mixed)	2,300	0
Asphalt (Clean)	13,400	1,000
Asphalt (Contaminated	2,300	1,100
TOTALS	72,220	225,107

(Estimated and Actual)

LLW actual disposal volume by category:

Category 1, Contract Handled 197,740 cu.ft. Category 3, Contract Handled 13,705 cu.ft. Category 3, Remote Handled 1,176 cu.ft.

TABLE 6-2

HOT CELL SHIPPING ITEM INVENTORY

Period 1995 - 2001

Category 1 Waste	Category 3 Waste	Totals
387 Boxes	63 Boxes	450 Boxes
7 Doors	4 Well	7 Doors
79 Concrete Slabs	6 FSV Casks (liners)	79 Concrete Slabs
9 Wells		14 Wells
174 Intermodals		174 Intermodals
1 Forklift		1 Forklift
10 Casks (Waste)		16 Casks
100 Burrito Wraps		100 Burrito Wraps
_		~401 trucks
		~212,621 cu.ft*

*The total volume of roughly 212,621 cubic feet of LLW, as indicated above, does not include 11,000 cubic feet of clean construction debris, 1,000 cubic feet of clean asphalt and 486 cubic feet of MLLW.

Table 6-3 summarizes the radioactive waste by campaign. Most of the waste was shipped to Hanford with bulk packages (intermodals and burrito wraps) going to Envirocare and NTS. Note that the bulk shipments are most economical with additional advantages for waste burial cost and shipping distance. NTS is the closest waste site to GA with Envirocare and Hanford more distant. All shipments were by truck except the Intermodal shipments to Envirocare. These were trucked to Los Angeles where they were placed on rail flatbed cars for transport to Envirocare. All bulk shipments included the return of the container (Intermodal or End-dump truck trailer) and hence there was a return cost included. In addition, small amounts of mixed waste such as contaminated lead and old casks were sent to Alaron for treatment or directly to Envirocare for macroencapsulation.

TABLE 6-3

Treatment or Disposal Site	Waste Type	Duration	Waste Volume Cost of Campaign* Cost per Cubic Foot
Hanford	Cell Debris Equipment Building Debris Soil	January 1995 Through April 2001	94,438 cu.ft. \$6,054,000 ~64 \$/cu.ft w/o casks
Envirocare	Bulk Soil/Debris	November 1998 Through September 1999	60,524 cu.ft. \$1,354,000 ~22 \$/cu.ft.
Nevada Test Site	Bulk Soil	March 2001 Through June 2001	57,659 cu.ft. \$805,000 ~14 \$/cu.ft.
Various: DSSI SEG-Duratek Alaron Envirocare Perma-Fix	Mixed Waste	August 1995 Through April 2001	486 cu. ft. \$371K ~760\$/cu. ft.

SUMMARY OF RADIOACTIVE WASTE SHIPPING CAMPAIGNS

* Cost of packaging, shipment, and burial in thousands of dollars.

7. OCCUPATIONAL EXPOSURE TO PERSONNEL

The estimated total occupational exposure under the approved Decommissioning Plan was less than 35 person-Rem. The actual total collective dose received at the Hot Cell Facilities during decommissioning activities was 10.1 person-Rem. This value includes all routine maintenance, surveillance, and survey activities through the final release surveys as well as D&D activities. This actual exposure value is approximately 29% of the estimate. There was

no measurable additional dose added during shipping operations to dispose of remaining radioactive waste. These operations were concluded in June 2001 with the completion of IFMs activities in September 2003.

In reflecting on the project from a Health Physics perspective, it is interesting to ask why the total exposure was so much lower than the estimate. Clearly the estimate in the Decommissioning Plan should not be exceeded and therefore should be a conservative yet real estimate. Compared to this evaluation, good ALARA practices were maintained but several additional factors should be credited.

At the beginning of the project, the Hot Cell Facility contained many radioactive items and areas. However, by its nature, the facility is designed to protect operations workers from the hazard. Thus in the early stages, D&D doses were controlled using engineered systems and instruments. In addition, protective clothing to avoid contamination and personnel contamination monitors (PCM-2s) were available. Further, a thorough characterization of the radioactive materials in the Facility was undertaken at the beginning. Finally, portable, alarming (pager sized PD-3s) dosimetry was worn by all workers and extra units were worn taped to extremities for special operations. Thus HP was able to evaluate the level of exposure on a daily and/or task basis and to respond to the radioactive level of each job. Problems were quickly identified and D&D operations were modified whenever needed to minimize exposure.

During preparations for entry into the Metallography Cell with its high Sr 90 contamination, it was discovered that the normal TLD badges were not protected from energetic beta (Sr 90) doses entering through holes in the side and would therefore read high. Additional TLD badges were utilized to provide more accurate beta dose readings. Doses during this remediation were also minimized through rehearsed and rapid, hands-on work.

Finally, high radioactive levels were again a potential when the radioactive hot drain lines and buried HEPA ducting were addressed. The drains had been previously plugged with concrete at the entry in the cells to prevent shine during remediation. Ducts and drains were accessible as the building and concrete slab were removed. The drains were encased in concrete and were removed by cutting into sections with the concrete in place for shielding. Clean out of the drains was avoided by characterization and packaging directly into waste boxes. The ducts were not as great a dose hazard as they were not as radioactive but incomplete or broken welds and leakage during sectioning gave greater potential for hot particle contamination.

8. FINAL SITE CONDITION

At the time of release, the Hot Cell Yard Area site was generally a bare dirt lot with a number of trenches, pits, and depressions representing something of a physical hazard to visitors. In addition, storm water runoff was not well controlled by the contour of features on the site. Consequently, GA, privately, undertook a compacted fill and contouring program to provide an interim safe temporary surface arrangement of the area and a basin with storm water runoff control to preclude major erosion damage to the lower hillside. The site was utilized as a

storage yard for clean fill dirt stockpiled to support grading to a final contour. Yard Area temporary fencing was maintained until the physical hazards in the area were mitigated. A permanent GA site boundary fence was installed at the north end tied to existing fences to control unauthorized access to the general area. Final grading has now been completed.

9. PROJECT CLOSEOUT AND TRANSITION (CD-4)

In accordance with DOE M 413.3-1 and specific guidance from EM and the Office of Legacy Management (LM), a Critical Decision 4 (CD-4) package was submitted in June 2004. Approval from the DOE Under Secretary (S-3) was received in September 2004 for closeout of the GA HCF D&D Project (Project Baseline Summary VL-GA-0012) and the transfer of GA project files to LM. A copy of the approved CD-4 package is included as <u>Appendix 6</u>.

There were two DOE contracts for characterization and D&D of the GA Hot Cell Facility:

- DE-AC03-84SF11962
- DE-AC03-95SF20798

These contracts are currently in the DOE contract closeout process. It would not be unusual for this process to take several years to complete all the administrative actions (e.g.: legal, financial, audit, invoicing, payment, and retirement). (Properly, only <u>then</u> can this report be finalized.)

10. LESSONS LEARNED, CONCLUSIONS, SUGGESTIONS

A review of the Contract scope of work (given below) indicates that all D&D related activities have been completed.

- 1. Reduce the concentration of individual radionuclides, which could contribute to residual radioactivity to regulatory prescribed clean-up limits and levels (**Complete**);
- 2. Reduce and/or remove from the site any hazardous constituents of concern found at levels above regulatory prescribed levels and limits (**Complete**);
- 3. Dismantle the HCF (**Complete**);
- 4. Dispose of all HCF generated radiologically contaminated construction debris (Complete);
- 5. Implement the commitments in the Site Treatment Plan for DOE mixed wastes at GA as applicable to the Project (**Complete**);
- 6. Ensure the site-generated hazardous wastes are treated and disposed of in accordance with all applicable orders, laws and regulations (**Complete**);
- 7. Remove the HCF foundation and dispose of the generated material (**Complete**);

- 8. Dispose of Phase 1 low level waste (LLW), mixed low level waste (MLLW), and hazardous waste (**Complete**);
- 9. Provide the systems and procedures necessary to ensure protection of the health and safety of the workers, the environment, and the public from contamination associated with the HCF decommissioning and site remediation activities (**Complete**);
- 10. Provide the physical security and material accountability measures required for decommissioning (**Complete**);
- 11. Remediate groundwater, if necessary to acceptable levels to be negotiated between DOE and GA (Not found necessary);
- 12. Perform site final radiation and hazardous material surveys (Complete);
- 13. Prepare the Site Closure Report and coordinate confirmatory studies activities with the appropriate parties (**Complete**);
- 14. Obtain NRC and CA/DHS release of the site for unrestricted use (Complete);
- 15. Assist DOE in the completion of the Environmental Assessment for transfer of the Irradiated Fuel Materials to a DOE location for storage (**Complete**);
- 16. Store the IFM in GA Building 30 for a period up to September 2003 (Completed);
- 17. Transfer the IFM to a DOE designated location for storage (Completed);
- 18. Provide GA STP technical support and reporting as detailed in Mod M016 of the reference contract (**Complete**).

10.1. Overall Project Lessons

A first lesson was the inability to survey under the building. Although some coring was done during characterization, the number of samples was not sufficient and the depth of pits and vaults precluded investigation. Thus, it was not possible to develop a clear picture of the extent of contamination in the soil until it was finally exposed and addressed. Also, with the HEPA ducts and hot drain lines running underground, it was not possible to ascertain if there were any leaks into the soil due to corrosion or some other mechanism. A French drain was also found under the HEPA exhaust stack, but not noted on the drawings of the area. (Accidental release of contamination during remediation of the ducts and drains is also a possible source.) Additionally, water spills or rain may have driven contamination down in the disturbed soil around the outside of the pit, well, or foundation structures.

Second, hot particles (fission products in fuel fragments from destructive, irradiated fuel and container examinations etc. - in this case mostly HTGR coated particle fuel) were known to be present but not expected in the numbers and pervasiveness found. Spills (e.g. a flooding incident due to a hose failure) and other activities over the years put many particles into the yard. Possibly, some of these were buried in the topsoil by equipment operations during remediation activities including digging, transporting, and packaging of waste. Other particles were found on old surfaces not identified in drawings and later covered over with asphalt

and/or dirt and buried prior to D&D. Many were not detectable until the background was low as they were under the surface.

The third lesson is that scanning release surveys cannot be conducted until the background is well below release limits. This may seem obvious but until the contaminated parts of the building and much of the yard waste was removed from the area (including contaminated soil), the background was too high to detect levels down to 15 to 25 micro-R per hour at the surface. Hence earlier characterization and status radioactivity surveys could not quantify the "releasability" status of the yard area near the Hot Cell. Soil sampling that was conducted during characterization would only indicate a hot particle if the particle were contained in the sample. During D&D the concern is for millirem levels significant for personnel exposure during activities. Release to unrestricted use requires levels 100 to 1000 times lower. (Note that equipment release must be conducted in a low background area but the scans and wipes might not detect hot particles as well as distributed contamination.)

A fourth lesson is the "shortage" of lay-down areas (due to other uses and the desire to not encumber any more land than necessary). As a result of insufficient dedicated lay-down area, soil was piled in the yard area and moved several times. This could have contributed to the particle contamination problem.

10.2. Specific D&D Suggestions

- Prohibit all hazardous items from entering the project area. This will avoid creating more mixed waste. Read the MSDS for everything used.
- Dismantle walls from the top down.
- Beware of potential for cutting or coring into unrecognized buried energized electrical and other lines. Shut off electrical, gas, air, and water service wherever possible. So-called asbuilt drawings either do not exist or are not representative of details such as line routing. Subsequent modifications to facilities are rarely incorporated into as-built drawings. Photographs taken during construction, if available, are more reliable.
- Use extreme caution when lifting items with an unknown center of gravity.
- Be certain that ladders are stable and tied off.
- Make certain that protective clothing is always utilized. Always wear hard hats during dismantlement.
- Torch cutting is always an ignition source. Remove combustibles from the area and have a firewatch.
- When multiple teams are working in the same area, be certain that each team knows the scope of the other job. Also, ensure communication with multiple teams (i.e. shifts) working on the same job.

- Be cautious when moving items which could tip over and spill.
- Never assume any container is empty.
- Disable CO₂ fire blanket system or equivalent by a very positive means (such as removing a spool piece) before entry into the protected area (such as a cell).

10.3. Waste Shipment Related Suggestions

- Wrap all packages where there is any remote chance of external contamination before shipping. Use absorbent to ensure that there is no condensation or leakage.
- Draw a vacuum on sealed casks before shipment to ensure that leakage is inward when the lid is loosened at a different elevation and temperature.
- Treasure any organization that will accept your radioactive waste. Meet their requirements and don't cut corners. This goes double for mixed waste. D&D does not make radioactive waste just disappear, it simply repackages the waste and sends it to a more acceptable place (from the D&D site perspective).
- Respond quickly and in force to any problems that develop during shipment or receipt of radioactive waste. Own the problem and let others know it. Send project staff to the scene to get the facts.
- Rain or irrigation water collected in the box standoff rails could be a problem (leaking out during shipment or at the waste recipient location and giving the appearance of loose contamination). Although there are supposed to be drainage holes, these sometimes are missing or plugged.
- Bulk pieces may be wrapped as part of packaging. Despite considerable diligence, rainwater can enter the flaps (which should be "sealed" and positioned so that water cannot collect) and enter in the package. Use a tarp cover.

10.4. Management Suggestions

Contractor

- The DOE planning/funding system does not lend itself to "surprises" since funding is planned on a two-year cycle. Substantial changes in the cost of D&D efforts can occur, particularly if waste volumes are significantly underestimated, e.g., due to unexpected contamination. Therefore be very conservative in the waste volume estimation.
- As with any job on a limited budget, it is very helpful to have other work "in waiting" so that staff can be redirected to the other task (and charge numbers) if there is not full time work on the main job. Try not to be the "flywheel" job.

- Every visitor is an auditor. Have an exit interview.
- A picture with a violation is a violation forever.
- Carefully file all survey records or risk doing it again.
- A work schedule of four ten-hour days can raise efficiency if significant suit-up/suit-down time is required for the job. Ten-hour days provide a longer work interval between breaks.
- Don't perform a final survey prior to a ground-level 100% gamma scan using a sodium iodide crystal detector or equivalent if there is any chance of hot particles.
- Don't tolerate shortcutting of rules, horseplay, or sabotage. Make an example of any instance early in the project.
- Keep the team focused on accomplishment of the job, together. Make certain the staff is a team.
- Staff with operational knowledge of a facility and participating in the D&D of that facility are extremely valuable for what they know but may have great difficulty adapting to the notion of "wasting" it.
- From time to time, build morale with give-away specialty personal items emphasizing the team (e.g. hats, jackets, etc.).
- Have breakfast or luncheon meetings. Keep the staff informed. Address all rumors. Answer questions honestly. Walk the job often.
- Expect the best and set an example.
- It is better to march in some direction than no direction. Evaluate options and have a plan.
- Others will judge the Project by the way things appear. Good housekeeping is essential. Make certain that appearances send the correct message. Perception is reality.
- Keep management informed in a positive but honest way. All they know is it is taking too long and costing too much. A little positive PR doesn't hurt.
- Clearly inform regulators, management, or customers with respect to any situation. Have no surprises.
- A tough, practical, independent internal auditor is of great value. Treasure that person. Better to learn the truth from them than an outsider.
- It is always more costly to deal with an accident than to prevent one.

- Have a staff you trust. Delegate to them and don't second-guess their best shot. Otherwise, you will get to do it all, and you are not as well informed as they are.
- Be certain that your staff can tell you if you are about to do something dumb. Don't shoot the messenger. Always deal with the problem not the people.
- There is no gentler way to learn than from someone else's mistakes. Visit similar projects whenever possible and look for lessons-learned on similar work.

DOE

- Get a clear requirement from HQ and revisit it <u>often</u>.
- Start the CD-4 process early.
- Build in larger contingencies. Contaminated facilities usually have unexpected contamination. Any processes that must be reviewed by committees will always take more time (and money) than common demolition tasks.
- Work closely and build good working relationships with <u>all</u> parties, from contractors to stakeholders, to contracts personnel.

11. REFERENCES

 Site and Facility Characterization Report PC-000424, "General Atomics Site and Facility Characterization Report," Volumes 1 and 2, dated March 1995.

2. **Decommissioning Plan**

PC-000423/4, "General Atomics Hot Cell Facility Decommissioning Plan," dated January 1998.

3. Hazards Analysis

PC-000420, "Hazards Analysis for the General Atomics Hot Cell Facility," dated December 1994.

4. **Basis for the GA Hot Cell Yard Area Boundary**

GA Letter, HCI:151R1:GCB:95, G. C. Bramblett to James Davis III, "Basis for the Proposed GA Hot Cell Yard Area boundary (revised for Clarification)," dated February 22, 1996.

5. Environmental Assessment for D&D of the GA Hot Cell Facility

DOE/EA-1053, "Final Environmental Assessment for Decontaminating and Decommissioning the General Atomics Hot Cell Facility," dated August 1995, and associated FONSI.

6. **Project Management Plan**

PC-000448/1, "Project Plan/Project Management Plan – Phases 2 and 3," dated February 1996.

7. GA Final Radiological Survey Report for the Hot Cell Site

PC-000495/0, "General Atomics Final Radiological Survey Report for the Hot Cell Site," March 2000.

8. **ORISE Confirmatory Survey Results for the Hot Cell Site**

ORISE Report, "Verification Survey of the Hot Cell Facility Site, General Atomics, San Diego, California," dated June 2000.

9. Hazardous Survey

a) Memo, HCI:009:DGC:00, "Sampling and Analysis Results for Hot Cell Soil/ Debris Shipped to Envirocare-Utah, QA Package PC#48893 (Quanterra Reports #18779, #19250, #20555, #20796, #21692) for TCLP RCRA Metals," by D. G. Czechowicz, dated 22 December 1999.

b) Memo - documenting sampling results for TCLP metals for soil/ debris being shipped to NTS

c) Memo - documenting no volatile or semi volatiles from diesel tank removal or other things identified in the characterization report. Since all structures and pipes have been removed the only relevant review is for soil in the Yard Area.

10. HTGR/RERTR Fuel Characterization & Packaging Report

PC-000384/0, "HTGR/RERTR Fuel Materials Characterization & Packaging Report," dated April 2002.

11. **Statement of Work** – for the Shipment of HTGR/RERTR Irradiated Fuel Materials from General Atomics to the Idaho National Engineering and Environmental Laboratory, General Atomics RFQ No. 2021 dated May 2, 2002.

12 **Irradiated Fuel Material Shipment Final Report** Shipment of General Atomics Hot Cell Irradiated Fuel Materials Final Report (PC-000512), dated December 2003

Appendix 1 Work Breakdown Structures, Phases 2 and 3

WORK BREAKDOWN STRUCTURE PART I - INDEX

1. PR	OJE	СТ	тіт	LE/	PAI	RTIC	CIP	ANT	r	2. DATE		3. IDENTIFICATION NUM	BER
	Ge	ner	al /	4to	mic	s F	lot	Ce	11 Project - Phase 2	1/6/1997	,		
	_												
4	5							WI	BS ELEMENTS	6	7	8	9
LINE										PARTICIPANT	BUDGET		
NO.	ROJECT TITLE/PARTICIPANT General Atomics Hot Cell Project - Phase 2 INDENTURE LEVEL TITLE ITTLE I 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 Hot Cell D&D Contamination & Decommissioni X X A Bar Support Functions X X Support Functions Facility Maint/Security/Surveillance X X Radiological Surveillance Common Support Functions X X Radiological Surveillance Common Support Functions X Radiological Surveillance Common Support Functions Security X Radiological Surveillance Common Support Functions Support Functions X Radiation Safety X Radiation Safety X X Radiation Safety X Decontamination & Decommissioni	IIILE	WBS ELEMENT	AND									
	INDENTURE LEVEL TITLE X A X A X X X X X X X X X X X X	+	CODE	REPORTING									
1	X	2	3	*	5		ť	ľ	Hot Cell D&D	1.4.8.4	NO.		
2		х							Decontamination & Decommissioning	1.4.8.4.2			
3			Х						Phase 2 D&D	1.4.8.4.2.4			
4				Х					Support Functions	1.4.8.4.2.4.1			
5					Х				Facility Maint/Security/Surveillance	1.4.8.4.2.4.1.1	7350.100		
6						Х			Maintenance	1.4.8.4.2.4.1.1.1	7350.100.100		
7						Х			Security	1.4.8.4.2.4.1.1.2	7350.100.200		
8						Х			Industrial Safety	1.4.8.4.2.4.1.1.3	7350.100.300		
9						Х			Radiological Surveillance	1.4.8.4.2.4.1.1.4	7350.100.400		
10					Х				Licensing, Safety and Nuclear Compliance	1.4.8.4.2.4.1.2	7350.200.100		
11					Х				Training	1.4.8.4.2.4.1.3	7350.300.100		
12					Х				Plans and Procedures	1.4.8.4.2.4.1.4	7350.400		
13						X			Radiation Safety	1.4.8.4.2.4.1.4.1	7350.400.100		
14						X			Industrial Safety	1.4.8.4.2.4.1.4.2	7350.400.200		
15						X			Facility Maintenance/Operations	1.4.8.4.2.4.1.4.3	7350.400.300		
16						X V			Decontamination & Decommissioning	1.4.8.4.2.4.1.4.4	7350.400.400		
17					v	А			Waste Disposal	1.4.8.4.2.4.1.4.5	7350.400.500		
10					A V				QA Support Track & Trand Activities	1.4.6.4.2.4.1.5	7350.500.100		
20				v	Λ				Decommissioning	1.4.8.4.2.4.1.0	7350,930,400		
21				^	x				Materials and Services	1.4.8.4.2.4.2.1	7350.610.100		
22					x				Site Supervision	14842422	7350 620 100		
23					x				Engineering Support	1.4.8.4.2.4.2.3	7350.630.100		
24					x				Hot Cell Equipment	1.4.8.4.2.4.2.4	7350.640.100		
25					x				Structural Decontamination	1.4.8.4.2.4.2.5	7350,650,		
26						х			High-Level Cell	1.4.8.4.2.4.2.5.1	7350.650.501		
27						Х			Low-Level Cell	1.4.8.4.2.4.2.5.2	7350.650.502		
28						Х			Metallography Cell	1.4.8.4.2.4.2.5.3	7350.650.503		
29						Х			Service Gallery and Decon Room	1.4.8.4.2.4.2.5.4	7350.650.504		
30						Х			ESTES Rooms/Manipulator Repair Room	1.4.8.4.2.4.2.5.5	7350.650.505		
31						Х			Pump Room, X-ray Lab, Tool Room,	1.4.8.4.2.4.2.5.6	7350.650.506		
									Mezzanine				
32						Х			Machine Shop	1.4.8.4.2.4.2.5.7	7350.650.507		
33						Х			Warm Metallography Lab	1.4.8.4.2.4.2.5.8	7350.650.508		
34						X			Boiler Room	1.4.8.4.2.4.2.5.9	7350.650.509		
35						Х			Change Room, Dark Room, Lobby and	1.4.8.4.2.4.2.5.10	7350.650.510		
24									Offices		7270 (70 711		
30						A V			Defiling Gallery	1.4.8.4.2.4.2.5.11	7350.650.511		
37					v	А			Diamontlement	1.4.8.4.2.4.2.5.12	7350.650.512		
20					А	v			File LLC Matellogmetry Coll	1.4.8.4.2.4.2.0	7350,000		
40						\mathbf{x}^{Λ}			Interior Walls Sub-ceilings	1.4.0.4.2.4.2.0.1	7350,660,100		
41						X			Roof and Exterior Walls	148424263	7350.660.300		
42						x			Concrete Floor	148424264	7350,660,400		
43						x			Storage Pit and Wells	1.4.8.4.2.4.2.6.5	7350.660.500		
44						x			Outside Structures	1.4.8.4.2.4.2.6.6	7350.660.600		
45						X			Removal of Below ground serv. lines & equin	1.4.8.4.2.4.2.6.7	7350,660,700		
46						Х			Removal of HEPA & other operating	1.4.8.4.2.4.2.6.8	7350.660.800		
									systems/services				
47					Х				Yard	1.4.8.4.2.4.2.7	7350.670		

h

1. PR	Ge	ner	TIT ral /	LE/	PAR mic	тіс s H	IPAN ot C	T ell	l Project - Phase 3	 DATE 1/6/1997 		3. IDENTIFICATION	NUMBER
4 LINE	5						W	/B	SELEMENTS	6 PARTICIPANT	7 BUDGET	8	9
NO.		IN	DEN	ITU	REL	EV	EL		ΠΤLΕ	WBS ELEMENT CODE	AND REPORTING		
$\begin{array}{c} 1\\ 2\\ 3\\ 4\\ 5\\ 6\\ 7\\ 8\\ 9\\ 9\\ 10\\ 11\\ 12\\ 13\\ 14\\ 15\\ 16\\ 17\\ 7\\ 18\\ 19\\ 20\\ 21\\ 22\\ 23\\ 24\\ 25\\ 26\\ 27\\ 7\\ 28\\ 8\\ 29\\ 30\\ 31\\ 32\\ 33\\ 34\\ 35\\ 36\\ 37\\ 38\\ 39\\ 40\\ \end{array}$	x	x	x x		v	v		~	Hot Cell D&D Decontamination & Decommissioning Phase 3 - Site Release Final Report Confirmatory Survey Site Survey/NRC Coordination Phase 3 - Project Management Project Management DOE Requirements Support	1.4.8.4 1.4.8.4.2 1.4.8.4.2.5 1.4.8.4.2.5.1 1.4.8.4.2.5.2 1.4.8.4.2.5.3 1.4.8.4.3.5 1.4.8.4.3.5.1 1.4.8.4.3.5.2			

WORK BREAKDOWN STRUCTURE PART I - INDEX



GA Hot Cell D&D Project Organization

Page 4

Appendix 3 - Phase 1 Schedule

CHARACTERIZATION SCHEDULE

	F		0	-		1		Chest	100		-	Mar	-		-	Der		-	1000
Tack Name		0	-0	ep	-	-		Uct		-	Ter.	Nov	107		1	Dec	1		Jar
HARAGTERIZATION	-	6	12	110	125)	3	10	11	24	31	17.	14	21	28	5	12	18	3	9
Authorization to Proceed			-	1	1	1	1	- Contraction	1	1	-			T	1.0000	1	Ĩ.	1	
Room 103			-	4	1				1			ł						1	
Boom 102	250		-	1	1				1			1				1		1.	
Room 100	111	-	-	1	1	1			1										
Room 104 and 104A	200	-		1	ī	T													
Coffee Room		_		1	1		1								1		1		
Men's & Women's Bathrooms				1	1			1							1		1		
RESPONSES TO SELF ASSESSMENT				1		1000		1							1				
Corridor/Ladies Change Room		-	-	1	-	-		a l											-
Grid Room				1	1											1			ŧ.
Grid Ladies Change Room		1							-		1				1				1
DI Survey		a la	-	-		12			1		1						1		
Remove Sample Media				-		I		1			1				1				1
Prepare Sample Media				-		8					1					i.			1
HAZMAT Samples				10			1	4			1								
Room 121, Boiler Room		13		-	-	-	-				1								
Grid Room		目							8										
DI Survey					10			1			1							1	
Remove Sample Media						Ú.		1								1			
Prepare Sample Media				1		司										1			
HAZMAT Samples				E.			a a								1				
Room 117, Tool Room			1882	Man	-	-		4				1			1				
Grid Room		1	1	ie -				1				1							
DI Survey						105													
Remove Sample Media					-	1	1									1	1		
Prepare Sample Media						•	R.										-		
HAZMAT Samples				1			1					1							
Room 117A					-	-	-	55	1			1							
Grid Room					-	+1						1							
DI Survey								10									1		
Remove Sample Media								0											
Prepare Sample Media					1			1											
HAZMAT Samples					1			= []	1										
BeO Shed					Concession of	1	-		1555		-								
Clear/Grid Room					101				1			1							
DI Survey										Ĩ									
Remove Sample Media						13						Ę.							
Prepare Sample Media										1110		1							
HAZMAT Samples								12	1	1		1							
Room 106, Change Room	-	-	-	-	1	-		in the second											
Remove Baseboards/Lockers/Cabs		-	-	11															
Grid Room		-	-	1															
DI Survey				15] #	-	-		ŧ.	1	1					10.0		ŧ		÷.

1000

.

.

CHARACTERIZATION SCHEDULE

	-								199	94	-							198
			S	ер	-			Oct	1	JL.	_	Nov	Section and		Dec			Ja
lask Name	24	8	12	18	26	а	10	17	24	31	2	14	21 28	5	12	19	з	1
Remove Sample Media				12	and the second s	1		1					11			1		
Prepare Sample Media	<u> </u>					1								1				
HA2MAT Samples		그럼	8	1		=	1								1	E.S.		
loom 105A, Darkroom		999	S	2000		1		<u>h</u>	÷					ŧ.	1		1	
Hemove Basebds, Benches, Sink				-									12 E.	1			18	in the second
Gra Room		8				•			P 3							1111		
DI Survey Initial				-	12	-				1								the loss
DI Survey Final								17		目					1			Contraction in the local data
Remove Sample Media					1		十日	U.	f		1				1			
Proparo Semple Media					10		1.1		És.			1			-			
HAZMAT Samples				9			Ē.	•							1			
Room 116A			Ē					===	Total Street	1								
Grid Room			8						D.			international de la constante						
DI Survey						1	10		1223			1						
Remove Sample Media					1	1.00	1			1						1		
Prepare Sample Media							1		E. A					1				
HAZMAT Samples		1			E			u						1				
loom 114, Pump Room			1		1000													
Grid Room					1.0													
DI Survey							國		12	1				1				
Remove Sample Media								İ		L	1							
Prepare Sample Media								b		=								
HAZMAT Samples					8			п			1			E.				
oom 108, 108A, Machine Shop					in i	1.200					1	-		<u> </u>				
Remove Material						1				-	<u> </u>	<u> -</u>						
Grid Room		1				E	İ I											
DI Survey									1220			1	-					
Remove Sample Media									133			1		1	1			
Prepare Sample Media														L.				
HAZMAT Samples		1					199			T		1	-					
loom 107, Manipulator Repair											0.884	Į.						
Grid Room					1				1		187	8						
DI Suvey										1000	i i	1						
Remove Sample Media					101						100							
Prepare Sample Media											m			[. "	L.			
HAZMAT Samples									R		107	1			1			
outside Ventilation Unit					Į.						El			1				
Grid Area								_	1	1	1	T. C						
DI Sarvey									1			10000			_			
Remove Sample Media														1				
Prenara Sample Media		1011														_		
HA7NAT Symplec						199				-								
norm 105. Operating Gallen										1.		-		1	1			1000
oom noo, operantig datiety		1									1000	A.1	- and the second	1	T			10

Baseline Actual Milestone

<u>Page</u>6

							distante de	122	-	<u></u>	1		1		2.20	-	-	130
Terthiere	17	S	ep	1	-	Ta	Oct	12.	1	121	Nov	T.			Dec	1	-	Jan
Di Suruev	20	12	18	20	3	10	11	24	31	1	14	21	99 	् <u></u>	12	19	3	9
Bamous Samria Media							ŧ					11	1	- E-	1			
Dransra Sample Madia							ŧ		1					-	, 13			
HA7MAT Samplee						1 +			1								Ī.	
Roof		1		-		1	-	1	101						1			
Grid Boot		1				1	1	1										
DI Super		i.		E.				1										
Bemove Sample Media		Į.					. '	B				11						
Prenere Sample Media		Į.					-	8				1 1						
HA7MAT Samples						1		5	10									
Exterior		1		-				1	11	-								
Grid Walls				-		E	1024	ia i	1			11						1.11
DI Survey		1					0	ī I	1000	1						ŧ.		
Remove Sample Media		1						-										-
Prepare Sample Media										T								-
HAZMAT Samples		1	100							171								1.1.1.1
Boom 116. Pu Lab/X-Bay Lab						- 1-	-			÷.						ŧ		100
Move Fume Hood/Herculite				10.5		10		,										
Grid Room																i.		
DI Survey		1				Ē		÷	<u> </u>							-		
Remove Sample Media		ŧ.				1.1	Ð		5									
Prepare Sample Media		1					Ð			•								12
HA2MAT Samples		1	1					a								Į.		
Hallway					-			-	1	-						Į.		
Grid Room		1	1			1 P												
DI Survey									1	8		191						
Remove Sample Media						ū			1	9						1		and a
Prepare Sample Media		ŧ				Ð			1							-		Ē
HAZMAT Samples			1					α.										
Room 120, Tritium Sample Prep.		l					<u>r=</u>				_	3	=					
Move Benches & Grid Room		1					a		0							ŧ		
DI Survey		ł								1 =						Į.		
Remove Sample Media		1									- [n i			1			
Prepare Sample Media						利用		Ē			0	۵				1		1
HAZMAT Samples		-							11	1			4			ŧ.		1
Room 109, ESTES Lab									11	r:	-			7				
Grid Room		-						m		B		1.11						
DI Survey											=	1						
Remove Sample Media		1										- 0				ł.		
Prepare Sample Media												- 1	1					E
HAZMAT Samples													即	4				in the second
Room 119, ESTES Effluent		ŧ						-	:4 :1	1		1200		3				No.
Grid Room		1						0	1									
DI SUCCEV		1				#33 H		E.	11	1		100	1	I I	1			10

CHARACTERIZATION SCHEDULE

Baseline Actual Milestone

533339]

CHARACTERIZATION SCHEDULE

								19	94	- 55								1995
		S	Sep			9	Oct				Nov				Dec			Jan
Task Name	21.6	-12	19	28	3	10	17	24	31	7	14	21	28	5	12	19	-2	9
Remove Sample Media													-	0				
Prepare Sample Media													1	包				
HAZMAT Samples									Η.								8 3	
Room 122, Hot Manipulator Rep.					1			-	11-1		-							
Grid Roam								17	1	1								
DI Survey														- 0	1			
Remove Sample Modia				1										1	E			
Prepare Sample Media		1												=	8			
HAZMAT Samples										E								
Room 111, Service Gallery									-	1 em								
Grid Room							1		-		I.		1					
DI Survey			1			1				1		1		Film	-			
Remove Sample Media												1	-	1	22	8		
Prepare Sample Media														1	123	0		
HAZMAT Samples					8.,.		1		1	£				0	-			
Room 118, Decon Room							1		5	1			100		-	-		
Move Equip. & Grid Room			Ē								d i	Ŧ	1	Į.				
DI Survey			1							1		-	1					
Remove Sample Media													3					
Prepare Sample Media		올고	1						1000				1	Į.		in.		
HAZMAT Samples		걸	1				1		1	Į.				10	Ē			
HCF Coring			1							1		1	1			-		
Coring			1					-	1	1			1		1			
Soil Sampling		-	1	-											Ť			
Grid Area			1			T	1					Į.	1					
Soil Samples, Initial		ione i	1								1							
Soil Samples, Depression			1 6	1	-							1	Ī					
Complete Soil Characterization						-	-				ł					Ī		
Prepare Soil Samples			1			Series .	in and in the second				ŧ							
Asbestos Sampling		1	1.00	8		-							1		1			
Complete Characterization			1				ŧ											
		-	ł						and a second						+		E	
		1																
			1												1	1		
			1				1											
									1									
		14.55	1											l.				
		4								1								
					188					1		1	1			1		
										1		1		Į.	-			
			1									-		E				
e name in the second state of the second state of the second state of the second state of the second state of t													1			-		
			1											i.				
		4	<u>+</u>	2	4	1.1.	1	-	11	-		1	4		-1	-1 	1	

-

۸



General Atomics Hot Cell Facility D&D Project Closeout Report Appendices



General Atomics Hot Cell Facility D&D Project Closeout Report

				FISCAL YEARS				
ID.	Name	-	1996	1997	1998	1999	2000	
1D 69	Name Storage/Shipping/Disposal	AIS		SONDJFMAMJJAS		ONDJFMAMJJAS		JA
70	Phase 2 Project Management							
71	Project Management							
72	Project Management							
72	Operational Readiness Pray (OPP)						<i></i>	
73			Ø					
74			⊘					
75	Operations Support							
70								
77			\diamond					
78	Administrative Procedures							
79	DOE Hequirements Support							
80	Contract Support							
81	PIS							
82	EM-40 Requests							
83	Track and Trend Act. and H&S Plan							
84	Prepare Health & Safety Plan							
85	H&S Plan (Draft)		\diamond					
86	Incorporate comments		7772					
87	H&S Plan (Final)		Ø					

Appendices General Atomics Hot Cell Facility D&D Project Closeout Report



General Atomics Hot Cell Facility D&D Project Closeout Report Appendices

	Activity ILI	DUK	Labor Coel	Other Cost	Total Cost	Host Start	lrøh	Status	Cogn zem:	16 hre	2003 2004 2005
	18			-			3	-	19 ²² - 19	A.	g Sep Oct Ver Dec Jan Feb Mer Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Ver Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr Way Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mer Apr
14 2442 IFM DU	presed	470.6d	\$599,858	\$1,289,242	\$1,889,098	8.01 15-May-02.4	31-Dec-03			97076	7 1484 2442 (FM Dispose)
Proj Mgmt & To	Kik Bupport	414.Cd	\$* 97,399	\$24,419	\$211 E18	0.0d 01-4.p-32.A	31-Doo-83			Gasah	Proj Marrit & Tech Suppar:
1.4.8.4.2.	4.4.2.8 1.1	83.Dc	æ	50	\$0	31-A.p.32A	28-0d-02 A	Gamp eled	ONK, GA	29.2h	OAK Definitives and leaves Contract Nuclear IFMs Liveregeneert
1.48.4.9.	4.4.2.3 3	240.04	S'87,399	\$24,419	\$211,918	0.81 31-ALU-02 A	19-Dec-03	In Program	ĢA	2159h	GA Project Mg=t & Toth Support Cast Collocitor
1.4.8.4.2.	4.4.2.3 1.7	244.Cd	80	50	\$0	3.21 01 Oct 02 A	16 Dao 83	In Progrous	OAK	Bill	Manifug/Dentucky WebFrough & Burysteines
1.48.4.2.	4.4.2.3 1.5	244-150	- 30	541	93	3.201 31-L31-02 A	16-0+0-113	In Pagees	LANK CO.	13/86	Prajpa Coordination Activities
1.4.8.4.2.	4423 41	0.30	30	80	20	31-NDV-02/1	07-Nm-02 A	Compiened	INEEL, GA	On	
1.40.42	4423 1.3	5.74	SU On		\$ 1		SHLLHD	Contracted	CAN .	3040	GA Second Contract for EVs Manchement
14842	4423 61	47.00	20	50	50	16.NWL02 A	R3.Fab.32 d	Compared	NAC GG	Oh	NAC Concluder Sie Assessment at GA
14842	4423 5288	0.36	Su	SU	\$3		02-tan-03 A	Co-n stad	NAC	Oh	AC Selents Carsi
1.4.8.4.2.	4423 42	168.Cd	SE	50	\$3	76.00 06-Jan-08 A	03-Sep-03	In Progress	INEEL	Oh	INEEL Developed excert PEP for Receipt of GA's Ford at INEEL
1.4842.	4.4.2.9 1.2	R5.0c	31	90	\$3	28-Mbw-08.A	01-1.403 A	Cu-paint	OAK	5925	CAX. Revises and izzues IFWs Revealing
1.4.8.4.2.	4.423 1.288	6.94	50	50	\$3	A BO INC IC	- warmen	Comp mied	OWK	Oh	DAK lesus: IF We Baseline
1.42.4.2.	4423 43	5.36	30	SN	\$0	0.04 25-36408*	91-J.J-03	Nol Baned	INEEL	Oh	INEEL Issues the GA Fuel Management Plan
1.4.8.4.2.	4.42.3 1.3.88	6.96	30	50	\$3	103.0d 3C-JuH00	1000 00100005	Not Started	OAK	Oh	A CAKID Isauas BA Fuel Shpment NOU
1.4.8.4.2.	4.4.2.3 1.8	74.Dc	80	50	Q	0.0d 15-ALG-03-	01-Dec-03	Not Started	OWK	SOSh	Buginess Graecu: Activities
1.15.1.2.	4.4.2.3 2.1.88	0.06	\$ 0	SU	\$9	0.6d 06-Sep-10		Not Stauted	U	Oh	➡ ID sauces Approval Letter to Bhip 30/b IFMa to INEEL
1.48.4.2.	4.4.2.3 4.4	6.34	ac	50	\$0	52.6d 26-3cp-38	83-04-08	Not Started	INEEL	Oh	THE INFEL Prepares Records for LTS of GA s IFWs on the INFEL Store
1.48.4.9.	442.3 3.2	21.00	-50	\$0	\$3	15.6d 25-Sep-03	24-02-08	Nut Started	GA	Oh	GN Comparise the Final Support for IFMs Shipmoni
1.4.8.4.2.	4428 34	28.04	50	50	\$0	31.6d 26 Sep 58	04 Nov 03	Not Started	GA.	Oh	
1.42.4.2.	4423 33	9.32	31	541	30	1.01 17-N:n-10*	01-040-03	Nul Barlad		Cit i	Source and Approved and Approved a Hard Hard Report
1.4.6.4.2.	4428 40	10.00	30	50	20	4.00 32-089-08	10-L00-03	Not 9 adapt	OIK	2426	- Skitch inspirer of 20 Provide State
INCO Diseas	Ever Engle Ba	82 Do	20	50		0.04 99 144 79 4	30 10 02 4		Line	24.31	VEFI Styana Factoria Francis
Incol Manga	1404 4P	44.00	20	50	24	0.00 20-001-03 M	THE LL DE A	O	INCO	01	Bas December 20 Martin Construction Construction Construction
140424	4374 4403	D. 24		50	24 61	AD-JHI-13 A	24-Ceb 72.0	Corro ated	INCEL	00	Participation and a recovery carbon in deriver
148424	4921 41	43.00	31	SD	10	17.Jpc./9.6	24.1 0.03 4	Correnated	INFE	Oth	Providence of the State of State State Assembly (CA Luni)
148424	4321 4248	E 34	Su .	Su	\$7	11404534	Shindisa.	Co-n sted	INCL	Ch.	→ Place Can shr Record Astembly in Ringar
INPER's Signa	E Fedility Doc	14H Cd	Sn	SIL	\$7	II OH TO-Dep-D2 A	10-Sep-113	do poios	ITTE LEC	Ch	INFE Is Strategy For My Day
140424	4272 41	24.Dc	50	50	\$3	30-0 m-02 A	15-Jan-83 A	Comp elect	INEEL	on	Complete -azerda dentification/Evaluation of Etorage Facility for GA's Fuel (BA BAR)
148424	4222 43	34.00	80	50		38-Dec-02.A	29-Jan-03 A	Comp effed	INEEL	Oh	Complete Criticality Sofely Evolution (GA SAU)
14.84.24	1.2.2.2 1.2	55.00	50	50	\$3	33-Dec-02.A	201 90-33 A	Co-peted	INLLL	9h	Complete Craft Serey Analysis of FBF for GA's Fud (GA SAR)
14.84.24	4.2.2.2 4.3.09	0.04	sc	50	\$0		29-Jan-83 A	Gamp eled	INEEL	Oh	Critically Subly Exelusion
148424	4.2.2.2 44	AB.Oc	30	50	\$3	A RC-and-28	10-May-113 A	Cu-pietad	INFFI	Oh	Complete TSR Doournentzion (SA SAR)
1.4.8.4.2.4.	4.2.2.2 4.10	95.Da	50	50	\$3	31.0d 18 Fab 08 A	29 J.J 03	In Progross	INEEL	Oh	Modify/Dealt Operating (FBF Proceedures by CA Fuel
148424	4222 4299	0.32	30	90	20		28-Fel+29 A	Co-paint	INEEL	Ci.	Dratt Sately Analysis of IFSF
1.4.0.4.2.4.	4.2.2.2 4.4.88	G.96	- 50	50	\$3		05-May-08.A	Comp aled	INEEL	Oh	Talk Documentation
1.4.8.4.2.4.	4.2.2.2 4.5	21.Dc	30	50	# 3	32-Jun-32 A	A 504.L-10	Comp eled	INEEL	Oh	Heselve DOL Comments
1.4.8.4.2.4.	4.2.2.2 2.1	27.06	S U	\$0	\$2	25-Jun-33 A	01-JJHGA	Co-peried	ID	Oh	
14.8.4.2.4.	A222 4.11	10.02	30 20	50	\$3	0.00 11-ALD-38*	22-AUQ-03	rear anarted	INCEL	on	Liese Granning Line Processing State And And And And And And And And And And
140424	42.82 82.88	0-36	30	50	\$J	0.90	10-040-02	HOT STRIFTED	11.2	100	
Louise and Arch	4 1 1 1 1 4 1 1	202.00	\$04.0/5	\$30,3432	201.005	0.00 01-000-02 A	194400-02	Constant	nor?	som.	Shiphing Tom Chip Man
14.0.4.2.4.	1000 60	13.00	30	50	53	01-Dec-02.A	1000002A	Compensed	NAC	Ch.	Contemporation (Contemporation)
148424	4223 54	19.00	20	80	69 69	31-Dec-02-A	18/00042 A	Currunded	Nac	- Ch	
148494	4923 65	12.04		50	\$1	31 Day 12 A	18 000 02 4	Garanted	NAC	Ob.	Themed Catabilian
148494	4223 58	13.0-	31	90	50	31-Dat-02 4	18-Dec-09 A	Cu-ustel	NAC	a	Contrationent Galaulain
140424	4223 23	175.Cd	\$52.075	\$30,503	SELADA	1.6d 31-Dec-12 A	13-100-07	In Process	GA	4400	GA Use rains Authorities Cost Co lection
148424	4223 5.1	13.Dc	30	50	# 3	02-Dec-02.A	18-Dec-02 A	Comp aled	NAC	Oh	Develop Darket Concept
14.0.4.2.4.	4.223 3.1	55.Dc	\$0	SU	\$0	10-Dec-02.A	18Mar-33 A	Co-p eled	GA. INCLL	30h	Review and Approved of Bear on: Dear ph
14.8.4.2.4.	4223 8.2	66.Dc	ac	50	50	18-Dac-02 A	18-Mar-32 A	Comp aled	GA. INEEL, OAK	24h	Approved of Shielding Sources Term Color, butic no
14.8.4.2.4.	4.223 3.3	55.00	50	50	\$3	18-Liep-02.A	10-Mar-30 A	Co-peted	GA. INEEL. OAK	24h	Approval of Ortisal by Dalout group
14.8.4.2.4.	4.2.2.3 3.4	66.Bc	50	50	\$3	18-000-02 A	18-Mar-02 A	Gamp cled	GA. INEEL, OAK	1-ah	Approval of Binecland Celebrations
14.8.4.2.4.	4223 3.5	58.0c	31	50	\$3	18-Dec-102 A	A.PC-wM-St	Co-paint	GA, INEEL, OAK	16h	Approval of Thermal Ca oblations
1.4.8.4.2.4.	4223 3.5	68.Da	50	50	\$3	18 Dat 02 A	19 Mar 33 A	Gamp aled	GA. INEEL, OAK	101	Approval of Contrainment Celoutations
14.8.4.2.4.	42.23 5.1.98	0.34	30	SD	\$ 0	18-Dec-02.A	1.000	Co~p eled	NAC	Oh	 Submit Basket Design to GA & INEEL for Review and Approval
14.0.4.2.4.	4.2.2.3 6.7	6.96	50	50	\$3	35-Jan-38 A	10-Jan-03 A	Comparied	NAG	Oh	Develop Change Pages
148424	4223 5.8	4.34	80	50	¢0	11-Jan-02 A	18-Jan-03 A	Completed	NAC	Oh	Internal Design Review
the second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second s									Designed.		

IFM Disposal Schedule (Page 1 of 3)

Disposal of Hot Call IEM

8	Activity	1 (3)(6)	Labor Cort	Other Cost	Idel Cord	Line Sheri	Lenh	Status	Carn mar	lithe		3803	70.04	200
	And the second second		Labor coel	Coller Coll	Total Cale.	1 TOOL COULT	10.00	20000	cogn zen:	Idnie	Aun Sen Dirt Max Dec	Jan Seh Mar Ary May Jun J.4	2004 4 Jans Sen Citt Ving Des Jan Fahl Nat Jans Hagd Jun Jud Jans Sen Citt Nov Des Jans	2001 Difeeblar
	1404944977 3187	E 24	.51	5.0	\$7		15430-78.0	Corneled	GA INEEL CON	(m	Less less one less note	Anoreved Restet Des	syn	in the first
	1484244223 510.02	0.34	30	50	10		18-Mar-12 A	Comparied	NAC	Oh		Submit SAR to the N	NHC for Review and Comments	
	1404244223 61	73.00	30	ŝu	\$2	24-Mar-00 A	30-J.m-03 A	Completed	NRC	Ch		NE NE	FIC Raviews and Comments	
	1484244228 1.1	98.0c	30	50	63	24-Mar-08 A	90-Jun-03 A	Comp aled	OAK,HQ	BSh		AQ A	IAK & HO, Monitor NRC Progress or Approval of Final SAR	
	14.84.244.223 5.86	0.06	50	SU	\$3	31-Apr-03 A		Co-peted	NAC	. Oh		e insue Bostat/Space	soor Purchase Order	
	1484244228 41	8.06	50	50	\$3	07-Apr-68 A	A 80-144-60	Gomp cled	INEEL, GA	Oh		J NEEQA Aurit :	Luich	
	1484244223 42	19.0c	30	50	\$0	APO-Apr-DB A	24-Apr-09 A	Cu-panal	INFFI, GA	Ch		Close NEEL-C	-QA Aust: Report	
	1484244223 6.12	6.04	50	50	\$3	14 Apr 63 A	18 Apr 08 A	Gomp aled	NAC	Oh		Cenerale Docur	untertailon Packaga	
	1484244223 5.13	8.34	30	SN	\$3	25.94 29-Apr-03 A	11-J.403	In Progress	NAC	Oh		N	NAC Internal Review of Eculoment Documentation	
_	1404244223 6.11	6.96	-50	50	\$0	27-Jun-33 A	27-Jun-03 A	Comp sted	NAG	Oh		I NAI	AC Responds to Comments	
-	1484244223 8.2	20.00	<u>a</u> 0	50	10	20-Jun-32 A	30-J.m-03 A	Comp effed	NRC	Oh			IAC 1 nati Revise and Approval of the Linat SAU	
-	14.84.244.223 6.99	6.36	-90	50	\$9	JI-JOHOU A	-	Completed	NRG	Oh			HC BHUCS C OF D	
-	1484244228 499	0.30		80	90	25.90 11-30408		Non argented	INEEL, GA, NAU	: 011			Laman epinaval ni raunana raesanapeser minitasi ini ni ang na ninita.	
	1484244223 51489	0.36	-50	50	\$3	0.08	15-Aug-03*	Nul Started	NAL;	Q6 CA		8	Text Destroyaption Hadroadon	
-	1484244228 67	2.30	20	80	30	0.00 16-000-08	19-409-03	Nul Curter	NAC	. On			The second second second report on	
-		147.04	Feg 047	80	710 000	0.04.07 1	94 14 09		NO-L	TOTAL			Pron Flied Alterion Doc	
-	1494044097 54	0.24	20	90	- and and a second	177 L. 198 A	OP ELL DS A	Commented	NAC	074		Conders Rode Orregoner		
	1484944924 92	1dt Ed	\$79 311	50	558.017	144 27 .bn 18 0	31.1.4 13	In Promose	GA	ATT		- Galipus Hour According	CA Preservation of Fuel Skipping Documentation Cost Collection	
	1484044724 51	B4 D-	30	50	10	NLFuluN9 6	(Reduced P. a	Currushal	NAC TRIBAL	940.		Presentation	of the Security Flero	
	1404744776 67	54 DC	.50	50	\$7	39-Fab-CO A	02-Mm-13.6	Corneled	NAC	Juh		Preparation of	of the Transportation Plan	
	1484244224 5.599	0.04	30	80	80		27-Feb-22 A	Comp eried	NAC	Oh		· Submit of Houte Assessen	ement to the VHC for Approval	
	14.84.244.224 6.2	87.06	.90	SU	\$3	0.08 274 65-08 A	31-JJHO	In Progress	NRG	Oh			NRC Review of Route Assessment	
	1484244224 63	1.3d	ac	50	\$0	28-Fab-08 A	25-Feb-32 A	Comp aled	NAG	Oh		1 Submit Generic Presedue	lones to GA	
	1484244221 31	38.00	-50	\$0	\$3	28-Fe5-03 A	29-Apr-08 A	Co-peted	GA	¢h		GA Registers w	with NRC as a Cask Usar	
	1484244224 6188	6.94	50	50	\$0	28-Fob-08 A		Comp aled	NRC	Oh	- 11-110 111	 GAL stad as a Registere 	ned User of Hee NAG-UNT Gere	
	1484244224 1.1	121 £d	31	90	\$3	A 80-w44-20 142.0	31-1448	In Programme	DAK, HQ	ASh			CAVE & HQ Monitor NRC's Progress on Approval of Route Assessment	
	1484244224 6288	6.96	50	50	\$3	0.00	31-JJH03	Not Started	NRG	Oh			Approval of the Roule Assessment by the NRC	
00	on of Funi & Canisters	405.0d	\$56,017	50	568.017	0.0d 16 May 08 A	18 Sep 03			635h	and a second second second		Tog of Fvel & Canterins	
	1484244225 32	76.Da	50	50	\$0	16 May 02 A	29 Aug 02 A	Gamp glod	GA. DAK	11h	Preparation of Draft	-JEL RSDa		
	1484244225 34	JB.D.	12	91	30	15-88ay-02 A	25-Aug-12 A	Car-pater	LSA, LAAK	110	-reparation or Uran	Peckaging House	GA Day monthly of Disland Carlship	
-	1404244220 20	320.40	206,010	50	309,017	0.00 10-May-02 A	18:580-03	In Progress	on at	oron	A G book I and Perell Li	When Mill I have been and departs		
	1484244125 3599	6.34		80	#J \$1	TO ALBORN	25. Lun 117 L	Company d	13A		B hmt Bankoalan F	Inst BBD s to INEEL for Brune and I	1 Annoval	
	1484944925 41	100.00		50	50	0.04.01.000.02.6	201-1 4.08	in Promass	INFE	Ob	- scoliner energing e		Bey sw and Anomael of GA's IEV Date & Canister, of constant	
	1484244225 21	84 0c	.50	50	\$3	Tobo BA	33-Apr-(8 A	Co-o stad	ID CAS	385		Prepare Shipp	ppenRotchar Agreement	
	1484244225 81	22.0c	sc	50	50	14-Mar-08 A	14-Apr-08.0	Gore nicd	GA	Oh		Bellemit IFM Dete	ta & Centaler Julo to INEEL for Review and Goursen!	
	1484244225 21.99	0.3!	31	50	\$3		27-May-18 A	Co-paint	ID, OAK	Ch		 Issue Shi 	hipper Receiver Agreement	
	1484244225 4188	0.96	50	50	\$3	0.6d 31 Jul 03		Not Started	INEEL	Oh			🗢 Approval of DA's SNF Date & Can ater Mismission	
	1484244225 3.3	10.00	30	SD	90	19.7d S1-JuH09	14-Aug-03	Noi 6 aded	CA, INEEL	Oh		-	Resolve issues ID identified by Fuel RSDs Review	
	14.0.4.2.4.4.2.2.5 3.5	10.06	-50	50	\$3	0.6d 31-JuH00	14-Aug-03	Not Started	GA. INEEL	Oh		-	Reache Issues ID Identified by Package RSDs Review	
	1484244225 2.98	0.3d	ā0	50	# D	19.7d	14-Aug-03	Not Started	ID, INEEL	Oh			DOL-HUMALL L Approved I ust HSDs	
	14.6.4.2.4.4.2.2.5 2.89	0.36	9 0	SU	\$9	13.74 14-4.9-15		Not Started	ID.INLLL	Oh			IO NEE _ Approves Peakaging REOs	
	1484244225 87	10.Bc	æ	50	\$0	13.7d 14-ALp-38	28-Aug-03	Not Started	GA. INEEL	Oh			Children Permission to Ship from INFFI	
-	1484244225 2.2.88	0.36	-50	90	\$3	0.68	06-Sep-03	Nul Started	113	Ch I			ULE ID ISSUE - CHENY ID AND LOTION	
In	termel GA Approvale & Doce	133.08	\$51,890	\$30,000	- 581 870	0.08 10-Mar-03 A	03-Sep-03		A	4386			т пена скурронна соз	
	14.64.244.228 3.1	1.36	SU SU	50	\$3	10-Mar-CO A	10-Mar-30 A	Lo-peried	SA. NIC	Oh .		I INUDI MEDING WUN NRS		
-	1.44.24.4220 20	124,08	\$51,520	\$30,003 an	881.820	0.00 10-Mar-08 A	92.84-902-03 A	Compared	CL NAC	4331		50.6 Dm	manie wygrowe en balancie bala une bala une	
	1404944908 37	FA Da		SP	\$.1 \$n	Di Ang Ca A	13 1 4 17 A	Cornelad	GA .	Ch.		BOHDH	Nall Evaluation Percentarios	
-	1484244228 99	50.04	30	SD SD	80	2.24 07-14-09.6	28.400.03	to Promoteo	CA	00			GA Internet Review and Approval of Procedures	
	1404244225 51	37.0	50	50	\$7	0.20 11-000	02-5-0-03	Not Started	NRG	Oh		Li-	NRC Review of Documents and Procedures (Frequent)	
-	1484244228 3.92	0.04	30	50	10	32.24	17-14-03	Not Started	GA	Oh		4.	Submit Procedures and Documents to NRC for Key ewand Comments (If required)	
	14.84.244.228 6.1.88	G.36	Şu	SU	\$9	0.20 30-560-03		Not Started	NRC	Sh			NRC Approval of Cask Loading at GA (1 required)	
. Be	Moment Dry Runs	130.04	\$15,784	\$103.000	\$100.784	3.05 27-Feb-00 A	11-Sep-03			1500			Fquipment Day Runs	
	1404244227 27	130.04	\$15,784	\$108.000	\$100.784	1.81 27-Feb-00 A	27-Aug-03	In Progress	GA	1000			GA Equipment Dry Runs Cost: Califetion	
	1ABA244227 8.1	128.Cd	80	50	#D	0.04 27-Feb-08 A	25-Aug-03	In Progress	GA	Oh			Heargn and Februarie Day Run Equipment	
			Pro l	0	\$1	0.0d 28-ALD-05	29-Aun-03	Not Started	GA	9h			Forform GA Inspection/Approval of Dry Run Equipment	
	14.84.244.227 3.2	1.36	- 30	30										
	14.64.244.227 3.2 14.64.244.227 3.299	1.06	50 50	50	\$3	0.04	29-Aug-83	Not Started	1	Oh			🔸 Dry Run Equipment Result	

11-Jul-03 11:31

Appendices

General Atomics Hot Cell Facility D&D Project Closeout Report

Disposal of Hot Cell IFM

88	Activity ILI	(XUK	Labor Cost	Other Cost	Total Cost	ilosi Start	l røh	Status	Cogn zem:	16 hre	2003 2004 2005
										6	Aug Sep Oct Vov Des Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Vov Des Jan Feb Mar Apr Way Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Des Jan Feb Mar A
	Personnal & Readiness Prep	121 £d	\$23,039	50	322,929	8.01 01-Apr-08.4	15-Sep-03	Sec. 1		104h	Personnel & Reedinate Prep
	1484244228 28	112.64	\$23,038	50	322,929	5.71 01-Apr-08 A	08-Sep-03	In Programs	GA	1846	GA Personnel & Readiness Preparation Cast Collection
	1484244228 33	115.Cd	50	50	\$3	2.3d 31 Apr 63 A	11 500 03	In Progress	GA	Oh	Assembling on the CA Bile of Non-NAC Equipment Needed for Fuel Loading
	1484244228 31	44.Dc	30	SD	50	50.64 32-Jun-38 A	01-Aug-03	In Progress	CA	Oh	GA Develops/Approves Training Plan
	1404244220 41	6.00	.50	50	\$2	18-Jun-33 A	20-Jun-03 A	Corp aled	INEEL	Oh	NEE_ Data International Level of Ansaissment
	1484244228 34	44.Dc	aa	50	83	A 80404-10 b0.0	02-840-03	In Progress	GA	Oh	CA Approves WAC Loup = ent and Cert ficetors
	1484244228 21	12.00	50	SU	\$3	0.06 18-30407	31-J.JHO	Not Started	10	Ch	E colon of INEEL Personnel for Fusi Unlocking Loading Training
	1484244228 22	18.Dc	æ	50	50	0.04 16-Jul-08*	05-Aug-03	Not Started	ID	Oh	LINFA Developed period Training Plan
	14.8.4.2.4.4.2.2.8 3.2	1.06	50	50	\$3	0.06 01-A. (r-09*	01-Aug-03	Nut Started	GA	äh	20 polition of GA, Project Parsonnel for Fuel Leading on the GA She
	1484244228 2.3	0.34	50	50	\$2	0.0d 14 Aug 38*	14 /100 03	Not Started	ID	Oh	INEL Conductor Training
	1484244228 2399	0.32	30	50	53	1.01	14-Aug-05*	Nul Sarted	ID	a	INEEL Personnel Trained
	1484244228 37	8.96	.50	50	\$3	2.04 32-560-03	11-Sec-03	Not Started	GA	Oh	A Conducts Training
	1484244228 35	4.34	30	SO	83	0.00 33-800-03-	05-840-03	Nol Saded	CA	Oh	Gommente Heestudion (GAHA)
	1404244270 3.77	0.36	30	50	\$3	0.06	13-500-037	Not Started	GA	Oh	BA Partorma Readiness Assessment
	1484244228 88	7.34	80	50	80	1.04 04-300-08	12-Sec-03	Not Started	GA	Oh	Fig. Condete Actions/Case-out Keedness Findings (GA4A)
	1484244228 12	1.34	50	SU	\$3	0.0d 38-Sec-05"	08-Sec-03	Not Started	INCL	Oh.	Scroon Pro-Bont Datakonoles Realiting from NEEL's Readings Assessment
	1484244228 43	2.04	æ	50	50	3.0d 39-3cp-38	10-900-83	Not Started	INEEL	Oh	Comprise Automotic concard Pre-Stert Findings (NEE_FIA)
	1484244228 4488	0.06	30	50	\$3	0.01	11-Sep-03*	Nut Sarted	INEFI	Ch	INEEL Receive Approval from ID Restart Authority
	1484244228 3788	0.34	an.	S.D	\$7	2.04	11 800 83	Not Started	GA	00	CA Personnel Trainer
	1484244228 388	0.34	30	50	50	* Al 15-8as-03		NulBarted	CA	0	GA Ste Ready to Lost
	1414744271 370	E 34	SI	50	\$0	II Get	15500-07	Not Started	GA NAC	0	NAC Personnal Trainer
	Material Shiranant	22 00	\$78 and	100 401	\$1128/7	8.04 71-M p-02	Disch-Setti	110101000		Set 1h	Manufal Scienceri
	1484944978 37	20.04	51	SU	\$7	4 24 21-A p.03	10.5	Net Staded	rea.		Province Scienting Documentation
1	1484544520 50	20.00 20.00	879 062	194 500	8119 842	4.24 21-14-0-03	12/04/18	Not S adard	C4	Get 1h	Ge Material Shamer 12st Dataton
	1404244378 41	1.74		SIL	\$7	I GI TH.Sec.IT	INS.Sec.113	Net Sadad	NAC	-	 Dask and Fourierst Datest Alexen for BA
1	140404490069	1.04	20	50	80	0.04 30 500 00	10 900 02	Not Chartral	NAC	0	Cast and a second strain of CA
	1484244278 387	1.14	G	50 50	¢.1	10 404 11-Security	11.800013	Net Stadad	ria.		
	1404044000 000	1.00		50	50	0.50 10-36p-03	11 900 03	Net Started	en.	0	HP 9 neurof Bartistica Cast
-	1404044020 27	1.00	20	40		10.51.10.00.09	11.9-02	Nut Quality	NAC	74	The Month International Statement Optimized Participants
	1404044000 34	4.74			**	DOI 13 Bee 17	10 000 03	Net Dested	-		
-	1494044920 2900	0.00	20	80	40	0.00 11200 20	10.0	Nul Custori	NAC CA	0	- H complete Case of Proving
	1404244220 4402	0.04			**	0.04	10000013	Net Carded	NOT CR		Complete Full space g
-	1104244220 0400	4.04		00		44.04 44 Day 04	10 000 00	Net Created	NAC OA	0	Complete receipted receipting in Case is an information of the Case is a received in the Case is the Case is a received in the Case is a receiv
-	1484244229 55	1.40	50		**	HALL IS-CARD-US	19-340-03	Net Castad	Nor: CR		Compare the Participal Compares in Provide All Instances
H	1404044000 00	0.00		00		0.00 10-Gep-10	20-040-00	Not Started	04.04	- On	Consider the Sector of the MACL MIT Cost
H	1404044223 03	0.04	04	20	40	0.64	0.00-04	Nul a silva			has been an
	1404/44/26 5066	0.00	30	50		0.00	10-040-00	NOT STRING	NPL, GA	- Vi	
-	1484244228 88	4.00	86	80		0.61.93.0	20-300-02	Not Started	TDIPLE		
	1484244228 58		31	341	2.1	non zo-capito	20-540-03	MINISANAS	INION	- un	- U FUR VOING & INCL.
-	1484244228 4188	0.00	80	80	20	4.04 04.04 04	29 360 103	Non Stando	INEEL	Un	
	1484244228 42	4.32		50	20	u.co 25-eap-us	USCIERCE	NOISANAS	INEEL	Un	
	14.04.244.2.28 0.8	4.00	30	50	40	0.06 30-06-00	0900400	Not Started	NEWC	On	· ····································
	Disp of Project-Generaled	80.00	\$00,295	\$44,000	\$100,255	0.06 23-Jun-38 A	31-06408			063h	T LLED OF PTOJECT-S STREETING VISION
_	*A8A24A22.10 3.3	42.00	.50	50	\$3	38.06 Z8-Jun-38 A	09-Sep-03	In Progress	GA	Oh	Is the Contract to Alaron for Wester Treatment
-	14.84.244.22.10 210	80.00	\$92,265	\$44,000	\$1C0,255	0.0d 23-Jun-28 A	31-Oct-08	In Programs	GY	58Sh	GA D sposition of Project-Generated Waster Cost Collector
_	*A8424422.10 34.88	0.36	30	ŜU	\$3	30.06	09-Sep-03	Not Started	GA	Oh	Bhip FMe Bhrings Ceals to Aleron for Tradment & Disposal
-	14842442210 8.1	12.00	ac	50	63	14.84 26-369-38	13-Oct-08	Not Started	GM	Oh	Percharge the ITW Generated from IFMe Optimations to MTS's Acceptance Criteria
	*#8424425.10 3288	6,36	50	SU	\$3	14.66	13-06-69	Not Started	GA	Qh	++ Ship LLW to NTS for Disposal
	NAC Selecontract	25,3104	- 50	\$850,000	\$250,000	1.54 US-Sep-U2.A	29-06-09			Oh	VAG Stimatowi
	NEC Subcontext A100	273 64	Su	SHOLDINE .	\$200 CID	2.5d (CI-Sec-19/ 6.	29-Oct-CI*	In Process		Ch	Bubon tradication

D Marawier, System, Inc.

11-Jul-03 11:31

Appendix 6 General Atomic Hot Cell Facility Decontamination and Dismantlement Project Project Closeout / Critical Decision 4 (CD-4) Package



Department of Energy

Washington, DC 20585

September 3, 2004

2004-009079

MEMORANDUM FOR DAVID K. GARMAN ACTING UNDER SECRETARY OF ENERGY THROUGH: MICHAEL W. OWEN DIRECTOR OFFICE OF LEGACY MANAGEMENT PAUL M. GOLAN FROM: ACTING ASSISTANT SECRETARY FOR ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT SUBJECT: ACTION: Approval of the Critical Decision 4 for the Closeout of the General Atomics (GA) Hot Cell Facility (HCF) Decontamination and Decommissioning (D&D) Project, Project Baseline Summary VL-GA-0012, and the Transfer for the GA Project Files to the Office of Legacy Management (LM) **ISSUE:** None **BACKGROUND:** Activities associated with the cleanup of the GA HCF and surrounding site were completed on September 28,2003. The GA site has been remediated to negotiated cleanup standards and released by the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) and the State of California Department of Health Services Radiological Health Branch (CAL-RHB) to unrestricted use. All project generated waste and legacy spent fuel materials have been dispositioned. GAts Special Nuclear Materials license with the NRC and byproduct materials license with the CAL-RHB have been amended to remove any reference to the HCF. Environmental Management (EM) completion has been achieved at a total project cost of \$35M. Attached are CD 4 documents in support of the closure. 1. CD-4Briefing to the Energy System Acquisition Advisory Board 2. LM Site Transition Plan 3. LM Transition Framework **DISCUSSION:** Scope of EM's mission on the GA San Diego, California, site, which was completed on September 30, 2003, consisted of the characterization of the HCF and associated yard area, decontamination and demolition of the HCF, off site disposal of all generated waste, the remediation of the surrounding site leading to the regulatory release of the HCF site to unrestricted



use, and the shipment of 0.0052 metric tons heavy metals (MTHM) of the Department of Energy (DOE) owned legacy irradiated' fuel materials (IFMs) to the Idaho National Engineering and Environmental Laboratory (INEEL) for interim storage.

The above scope of work was accomplished through the execution of Contracts DE-AC03-84SFI1962 and DE-AC03-95SF20798. The NRC, in a letter dated July 2002, amended the GA's site material license to release the HCF site to unrestricted use and deleted references to the HCF site from the GA license. Similarly, the CAL-RHB in a letter dated August 2000 amended GA's Radioactive Materials License to release the HCF site to unrestricted use and deleted references to the HCF site from the license. Project generated waste was packaged and disposed in FY03. The 0.0052 MTHM of DOE owned legacy IFMs were packaged and shipped to INEEL for interim storage in September 2003. Remaining scope of work consists of contract closeout and the transfer of project files to LM in August, 2004. It is anticipated that approximately fifty (50) 10" x 15" x 10" boxes will be transferred to LM for storage.

Clause H.035 of the Contract indemnifies the DOE against any future liabilities, lawsuits, losses, judgments, damages regarding the HCF site. Any future cleanup activities will be the responsibility of GA.

SENSITIVITIES: None

POLICY IMP ACT: None

RECOMMENDATION: Approve the Critical Decision 4 Closeout of the GA HCF D&D Project and the transfer of the project records to LM.

Attachments

ADDOVAI				
	VAL:			
DISAFIKO	VAL			
DATE:	8	SEPT	2004	

cc: H. M. De Graca, Oak



Department of Energy National Nuclear Security Administration Service Center



JUN 14 2004

MEMORANDUM FOR:	David K. Garman Acting Under Secretary of Energy (S-3)
THROUGH:	Jessie Hill Roberson Assistant Secretary for Environmental Management (EM-1)
THROUGH:	Michael W. Owen, Director Office of Legacy Management (LM-1)
FROM:	Henry M. De Graca, Manager Oakland Environmental Programs Division
SUBJECT:	Critical Decision 4 for the Closeout of the General Atomics (GA) Hot Cell Facility (HCF) Decontamination and Decommissioning (D&D) Project, Project Baseline Summary VL-GA-0012, and the Transfer for the GA Project Files to the Office of Legacy Management (LM)
BACKGROUND:	Activities associated with the cleanup of the GA HCF and surrounding site were completed on September 28, 2003. The GA site has been remediated to negotiated cleanup standards and released by the U. S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) and the State of California Department of Health Services Radiological Health Branch (CAL- RHB) to unrestricted use. All project generated waste and legacy spent fuel materials have been dispositioned. GA's Special Nuclear Materials license with the NRC and byproduct materials license with the CAL-RHB have been amended to remove any reference to the HCF. EM completion has been achieved at a total project cost of \$35M.
DISCUSSION:	Scope of EM's mission on the GA San Diego, Calfornia site, which was completed on September 30, 2003, consisted of the characteriza- tion of the HCF and associated yard area, decontamination and demolition of the HCF, off site disposal of all generated waste, the remediation of the surrounding site leading to the regulatory release of the HCF site to unrestricted use, and the shipment of 0.0052 metric tons heavy metals (MTHM) of the Department of Energy (DOE) owned legacy irradiated fuel materials (IFMs) to the Idaho National Engineering and Environmental Laboratory (INEL) for interim storage.

Germantown Office Germantown Building – USDOE 1000 Independence Avenue, SW Washington, DC 20585-1290 Nevada Office P.O. Box 98518 Las Vegas, NV 89193-8518

	The above scope of work was accomplished through the execution of Contracts DE-AC03-84SF11962 and DE-AC03-95SF20798. The NRC, in a letter dated July 2002, amended the GA's site material license to release the HCF site to unrestricted use and deleted references to the HCF site from the GA license. Similarly, the CAL- RHB in a letter dated August 2000 amended GA's Radioactive Materials License to release the HCF site to unrestricted use and deleted references to the HCF site from the license. Project generated waste was packaged and disposed in FY03. The 0.0052 MTHM of DOE owned legacy IFMs were packaged and shipped to INEL for interim storage in September 2003. Remaining scope of work consists of contract closeout and the transfer of project files to the LM by June 2004. It is anticipated that approximately fifty (50) 10" x 15" x 10" boxes will be transferred to LM for storage.
	liabilities, lawsuits, losses, judgments, damages regarding the HCF site. Any future cleanup activities will be the responsibility of GA.
SENSITIVITIES:	None
RECOMMENDATION:	Approve the Critical Decision 4 Closeout of the GA HCF D&D Project and the transfer of the project records to LM.
Attachments	
cc w/atts: I. R. Triay, EM-3 S. L. Johnson, EM-3.4 B. J. Heffernan, EM-12	

E. C. Schmitt, EM-20

D. W. Geiser, LM-40





Slide 2


Slide 3



Slide 4





Slide 6



Task Remaining

 Transfer approximately 50 boxes of project records to the Office of Legacy Management for storage.

Slide 8



General Atomics Hot Cell Facility Decontamination & Decommissioning Project Site Transition Plan



U. S. Department of Energy National Nuclear Security Administration Service Center (Oakland) Oakland Environmental Programs Division May 2004

1.0 Executive Summary

The U. S. Department of Energy (DOE), National Nuclear Security Administration (NNSA) Service Center Oakland (OAK) has developed this document to describe the remaining actions to be completed by OAK federal staff leading to project completion. The actions consist of completion of the final Project Closure Report per DOE M413.3-1, the retirement of the General Atomics Hot Cell Facility (HCF) Decontamination and Decommissioning (D&D) Contracts, DE-AC03-85SF11962 and DE-AC03-95SF20798 and the transferring of the project files to the Office of Legacy Management for storage.

2.0 Background

The Environmental Management (EM) mission on the General Atomics San Diego, California site was to decontaminate and demolish the HCF, obtain regulatory release of the HCF site to unrestricted use, and ship 0.0052 metric tons of heavy metal (MTHM) of irradiated fuel materials to the Idaho National Engineering Laboratory (INEL) for interim storage. The EM mission was accomplished on September 28, 2003 with the completion of all physical cleanup activities. All HCF associated equipment was removed and disposed of in March 2001; the HCF decontaminated and dismantled in October 1998; HCF associated yard area remediated to negotiated cleanup levels and released to unrestricted use by the Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) and the State of California Department of Health Services Radiological Health Branch (CAL-RHB) in August 2000; radiological waste disposal activities completed in June 2001; and 0.0052 MTHM of irradiated fuel materials packaged and shipped to the INEL for interim storage on September 28, 2003. The Nuclear Regulatory Commission, in a letter dated July 3, 2000, amended the GA's site byproduct source and/or special nuclear material license to release the HCF site to unrestricted use and deleted references to this area from the license. Similarly, the CAL-RHB in a letter dated August 31, 2000 amended GA's Radioactive Material License to release the HCF site to unrestricted use and deleted references to this area from the license.

Remaining HCF D&D work to be completed by federal staff includes the closeout and retirement of the HCF D&D contracts, DE-AC03-84SF11962 and DE-AC03-9520798, and the transferring of HCF D&D Project files to the Office of Legacy Management for storage. The goal is to transfer the project files to the Office of Legacy Management by June 2004. 3.0 Schedule of Activities to be completed leading to project completion.

Action	Completion Date	Responsible Party
Complete Preliminary Project Closure	June 2004	James A. Davis, III
Report per DOE M413.3-1		
Close and Retire Hot Cell Facility	August 2004	Aundra Richards
D&D Contract DE-AC03-84SF11962		
Transfer DE-AC03-84SF11962 Files	July 2004	John Lee
(contract and project) to Grand Junction		
for Storage		
Close and Retire Hot Cell Facility	Depending on receipt	Aundra Richards
D&D Contract DE-AC03-95SF20798	of final invoice, could	
	be as early as 2006.	
Transfer Contract DE-AC03-	July 2004	John Lee
95SF20798 Project Files to Grand		
Junction for Storage		

REVIEW ITEM	COMPLETED	N/A	STATUS
I. Authorities and Accountabilities are Assigned and Documented:			
 All interested parties' assignment of accountability and authority for long-term surveillance and maintenance has been identified and documented. 		x	There are no requirements for long-term surveillance and maintenance for the General Atomics Hot Cell Facility site. Site was remediated to negotiated clean-up standards and has been released to unrestricted use by the regulators, (Nuclear Regulatory Commission and the State of Cal Dept of Health Services Radiological Health Branch.
A. All documents allocating the roles and responsibilities of interested parties have been approved and signed (e.g., Memorandum of Agreement, Memorandum of Understanding, Interagency Agreement, Cooperative Agreement).		x	There are no requirements for long-term surveillance and maintenance for the General Atomics Hot Cell Facility site. Site was remediated to negotiated clean-up standards and has been released to unrestricted use by the regulators, (Nuclear Regulatory Commission and the State of Cal Dept of Health Services Radiological Health Branch.
B. Each federal or non-federal entity responsible for long-term surveillance and maintenance activities listed in section I(A) have been identified. Funding sources for each activity have been identified.		х	There are no requirements for long-term surveillance and maintenance for the General Atomics Hot Cell Facility site.
C. Appropriate governmental policies and procedures for managing resources are incorporated into the long-term surveillance and maintenance plan and agreements.		х	There are no requirements for long-term surveillance and maintenance for the General Atomics Hot Cell Facility site.
D. The legal authority under which long-term surveillance and maintenance will be conducted has been identified and documented or a "reservation of rights" has been indicated.	,	х	There are no requirements for long-term surveillance and maintenance for the General Atomics Hot Cell Facility site.
E. Authorities relating to Institutional Controls are further discussed in paragraph IV.		x	There are no requirements for long-term surveillance and maintenance for the General Atomics Hot Cell Facility site.
II. Site Conditions are Accurately and Comprehensively Documented:			
• All documentation identifying site historical uses, characterization, and remedial action, including the Preliminary and Final Closeout Reports have been completed and made available to the public. Where available, the information identified in this section should be of survey quality and have Global Information Systems (GIS) references.	x		Site has been well characterized and is documented in a report titled, "Final Survey of the GA Site".
A. The site at the time of closure, including all remedies and remaining hazards, has been described. Examples include:	x		Site has been well characterized and is documented in a report titled, "Final Survey of the GA Site".
 Physical features of the site, including, site topography, geology, hydrogeology, geomorphology, seismicity, site and area boundaries, and other features relevant to the long-term performance of the site. 	x		Site has been well characterized and is documented in a report titled, "Final Survey of the GA Site".
 Locations of active, inactive, and decommissioned buildings, structures, and surface and subsurface infrastructure (e.g., utilities) 	x		Site has been well characterized and is documented in a report titled, "Final Survey of the GA Site".

REVIEW ITEM	COMPLETED	N/A	STATUS
Locations of residual hazards and associated engineered and institutional control systems.		х	Site has been remediated to negotiated clean-up standards and has been released to unrestricted use by the regulators.
Locations of groundwater wells, wastewater outfalls, and air quality monitoring stations. Information has been depicted on site maps.		Х	Ground water was not an issue.
 For those sites undergoing closure, locations of off-site buildings and structures, important ecological resources, and associated potential receptors in the vicinity of the site. 		х	Site has been remediated to negotiated clean-up standards and has been released to unrestricted use by the regulators.
6. Characteristics of the remaining contaminants (e.g., radioisotope, activity, and physical form).		х	Site has been remediated to negotiated clean-up standards and has been released to unrestricted use by the regulators.
7. Describe the initial risk at the site and the risk remaining at the site following remediation. This will be used to provide a reference baseline.		x	Site has been remediated to negotiated clean-up standards and has been released to unrestricted use by the regulators.
8. The existence of a "No Further Action" decision should be indicated.		х	Site has been remediated to negotiated clean-up standards and has been released to unrestricted use by the regulators.
B. For those sites undergoing closure, a conceptual site model for long-term surveillance and maintenance has been completed (if deemed applicable), showing the relationships between existing residual hazards, environmental transport mechanisms, exposure pathways, and human/ecological receptors.		x	Site has been remediated to negotiated clean-up standards and has been released to unrestricted use by the regulators.
C. All remedial action(s) and associated documentation have been completed and approved by regulators.	x		Site was remediated to negotiated clean-up standards and has been released by the regulatory agencies to unrestricted use August 2001.
D. Results of any Natural Resource Damage Assessment claims, where applicable, performed with associated documentation has been identified. This assessment should discuss the Department's potential environmental liability at the site.		x	No damage claims were filed.
III. Engineered Controls, Operation & Maintenance Requirements, and			
Emergency/Contingency Planning are Documented:			
A. Engineered controls have been identified and documented, information should include:		х	Physical work including decontamination, dismantlement, waste disposal, soil remediation, and spent fuel materials removal have been completed and the site was released to unrestricted use by the regulatory agencies. There is no requirement for long term surveillance and maintenance.

REVIEW ITEM	COMPLETED	N/A	STATUS
1. Design and construction drawings, specifications, and completion report.		x	Physical work including decontamination, dismantlement, waste disposal, soil remediation, and spent fuel materials removal have been completed and the site was released to unrestricted use by the regulatory agencies. There is no requirement for long term surveillance and maintenance.

			regulatory agencies. There is no requirement for long term surveillance and maintenance.
2. Site physical and geotechnical data.		x	Physical work including decontamination, dismantlement, waste disposal, soil remediation, and spent fuel materials removal have been completed and the site was released to unrestricted use by the regulatory agencies. There is no requirement for long term surveillance and maintenance.
3. Locations of engineered controls accurately identi maps.	fied and depicted on site	x	Physical work including decontamination, dismantlement, waste disposal, soil remediation, and spent fuel materials removal have been completed and the site was released to unrestricted use by the regulatory agencies. There is no requirement for long term surveillance and maintenance.
4. Identification of on-going remediation and related activities.	waste management	x	Physical work including decontamination, dismantlement, waste disposal, soil remediation, and spent fuel materials removal have been completed and the site was released to unrestricted use by the regulatory agencies. There is no requirement for long term surveillance and maintenance.
5. Performance history assessments indicating succ	essful operation.	x	Physical work including decontamination, dismantlement, waste disposal, soil remediation, and spent fuel materials removal have been completed and the site was released to unrestricted use by the regulatory agencies. There is no requirement for long term surveillance and maintenance.

REVIEW ITEM	COMPLETED	N/A	STATUS
6. A life-cycle cost estimate, including basis and assumptions. The life-cycle cost estimate should be based on best available data but should also include a reasonable and prudent amount for future contingencies, recognizing that in most cases the long-term surveillance and maintenance activities may be on-going until such time that no hazards remain to human health and the environment.		x	Physical work including decontamination, dismantlement, waste disposal, soil remediation, and spent fuel materials removal have been completed and the site was released to unrestricted use by the regulatory agencies. There is no requirement for long term surveillance and maintenance.
7. A master schedule of on-going activities has been made available, including exit criteria outlining if and/or when engineered controls are no longer necessary. If exit criteria will be implemented while hazards to human health and the environment remain, a Probabilistic Risk Assessment (PRA) over several half-lives should be provided to justify the exit strategy and the discontinuance of the engineered controls.		x	Physical work including decontamination, dismantlement, waste disposal, soil remediation, and spent fuel materials removal have been completed and the site was released to unrestricted use by the regulatory agencies. There is no requirement for long term surveillance and maintenance.
B. Operations & Maintenance (O&M) activities have been documented, funding is in place, and a party has been selected to perform the necessary activities.		x	Physical work including decontamination, dismantlement, waste disposal, soil remediation, and spent fuel materials removal have been completed and the site was released to unrestricted use by the regulatory agencies. There is no requirement for long term surveillance and maintenance.
1. Surveillance and monitoring requirements have been documented (e.g., scope, frequency, reporting, process descriptions, and analytical parameters and methods). This document should allow for optimization that is consistent with the selected remedy.		x	Physical work including decontamination, dismantlement, waste disposal, soil remediation, and spent fuel materials removal have been completed and the site was released to unrestricted use by the regulatory agencies. There is no requirement for long term surveillance and maintenance.
2. The cost, including basis and assumptions, of operations, maintenance and surveillance activities has been estimated, documented, and revised periodically as experience dictates. The request for funding should be in accordance with applicable budget appropriation procedures.		x	Physical work including decontamination, dismantlement, waste disposal, soil remediation, and spent fuel materials removal have been completed and the site was released to unrestricted use by the regulatory agencies. There is no requirement for long term surveillance and maintenance.

REVIEW ITEM	COMPLETED	N/A	STATUS
3. An agreement and/or contract is in place for performance of all O&M activities during long-term surveillance and maintenance if an outside party will be performing these activities.		x	Physical work including decontamination, dismantlement, waste disposal, soil remediation, and spent fuel materials removal have been completed and the site was released to unrestricted use by the regulatory agencies. There is no requirement for long term surveillance and maintenance.
C. Emergency/Contingency planning and the authority and responsibilities to implement have been identified.		x	Physical work including decontamination, dismantlement, waste disposal, soil remediation, and spent fuel materials removal have been completed and the site was released to unrestricted use by the regulatory agencies. There is no requirement for long term emergency planning.
1. Uncertainties associated with residual hazards, fate and transport mechanisms, exposure pathways, and the effectiveness of long-term surveillance and maintenance activities have been identified.		x	Physical work including decontamination, dismantlement, waste disposal, soil remediation, and spent fuel materials removal have been completed and the site was released to unrestricted use by the regulatory agencies. There is no requirement for long term emergency planning.
2. Scenarios related to each uncertainty have been identified (e.g., failure scenarios).		x	Physical work including decontamination, dismantlement, waste disposal, soil remediation, and spent fuel materials removal have been completed and the site was released to unrestricted use by the regulatory agencies. There is no requirement for long term emergency planning.
3. Roles, responsibilities, and procedures to respond to each scenario have been established.		x	Physical work including decontamination, dismantlement, waste disposal, soil remediation, and spent fuel materials removal have been completed and the site was released to unrestricted use by the regulatory agencies. There is no requirement for long term emergency planning.
4. The conceptual site model developed in support of the remedial action or closure decision should be routinely reviewed, updated and re-evaluated based on new technical information and on monitoring data collected during stewardship of the site.		x	Physical work including decontamination, dismantlement, waste disposal, soil remediation, and spent fuel materials removal have been completed and the site was released to unrestricted use by the regulatory agencies. There is no requirement for long term emergency planning.
IV. Institutional Controls and Enforcement Authorities are Identified:			

REVIEW ITEM	COMPLETED	N/A	STATUS
A. Land Use/Institutional Controls have been identified, approved by the regulators) (if applicable) and implemented. All institutional control components of each implemented remedy are described (e.g., future lands use assumptions upon which each implemented remedy is based, associated land use restrictions). If engineered barriers are relied upon as part of the remedy requiring institutional controls, assumptions regarding the longevity and performance of these barriers should be identified.		x	Site has been released by the regulators to unrestricted use for an industrial future land use scenario. Industrial zoning is enforced by the City and County of San Diego, California.
1. On-site and off-site land uses for each area (property) and its associated land use assumptions have been identified.		x	Site has been released by the regulators to unrestricted use for an industrial future land use scenario. Industrial zoning is enforced by the City and County of San Diego, California.
2. Procedures for managing, assessing potential changes in, and enforcing on- site and off-site(as appropriate) land uses have been documented and are being conducted.		x	Site has been released by the regulators to unrestricted use for an industrial future land use scenario. Industrial zoning is enforced by the City and County of San Diego, California.
3. Institutional controls established as part of an implemented remedy have been identified and a process is in place to monitor and document these institutional controls.		x	Site has been released by the regulators to unrestricted use for an industrial future land use scenario. Industrial zoning is enforced by the City and County of San Diego, California.
4. Roles and responsibilities have been outlined for responding to requests to change existing land uses that is inconsistent with the land use assumed during implementation of the selected remedy.		x	Site has been released by the regulators to unrestricted use for an industrial future land use scenario. Industrial zoning is enforced by the City and County of San Diego, California.
5. Procedures have been put in place for periodic review of land uses and institutional controls to ensure that they are being maintained and remain protective. Performance history indicating successful operation has been documented.		x	Site has been released by the regulators to unrestricted use for an industrial future land use scenario. Industrial zoning is enforced by the City and County of San Diego, California.
6. Procedures for management and periodic reassessment of institutional control restrictions are in place.		x	Site has been released by the regulators to unrestricted use for an industrial future land use scenario. Industrial zoning is enforced by the City and County of San Diego, California.
7. Off-site easements implemented to ensure the protectiveness of the remedy have been documented and a process in place to enforce/maintain these easements.		x	Site has been released by the regulators to unrestricted use for an industrial future land use scenario. Industrial zoning is enforced by the City and County of San Diego, California.
8. Exit criteria outlining when engineered controls/institutional controls are no longer necessary has been documented, if not previously documented in the ROD.		x	Site has been released by the regulators to unrestricted use for an industrial future land use scenario. Industrial zoning is enforced by the City and County of San Diego, California.

REVIEW ITEM	COMPLETED	N/A	STATUS
B. Property records (as required by applicable regulations and/or guidance) are complete.		х	The General Atomics San Diego California site is privately owned and operated. Future land use for the General Atomics Hot Cell Facility site will be determined by the owners of the site.
1. The site's real estate history has been documented, including identification of former property owners, deed restrictions, or other land use restrictions.		x	The GA- San Diego site is privately owned and operated. Future land use for the GA Hot Cell Facility site will be determined by the owners of the site.
2. Site boundaries and site markers are easily identified and documented.		x	The GA- San Diego site is privately owned and operated. Future land use for the GA Hot Cell Facility site will be determined by the owners of the site.
3. On-site and off-site easements, rights of way, and other property access rights have been established and documented. Preferably, this information should be depicted on site maps.		x	The GA- San Diego site is privately owned and operated. Future land use for the GA Hot Cell Facility site will be determined by the owners of the site.
4. Water, mineral, and other natural resource rights have been identified.		x	The GA- San Diego site is privately owned and operated. Future land use for the GA Hot Cell Facility site will be determined by the owners of the site.
5. Tribal treaty rights and other U.S. Government obligations have been identified.		x	The GA- San Diego site is privately owned and operated. Future land use for the GA Hot Cell Facility site will be determined by the owners of the site.
6. Areas where long-term surveillance and maintenance activities will be conducted have been documented in the property records.		x	The GA- San Diego site is privately owned and operated. Future land use for the GA Hot Cell Facility site will be determined by the owners of the site.
V. Regulatory Requirements and Authorities are Identified:			
• Regulatory requirements regarding residual contamination have been identified. Pertinent regulatory documents are maintained and available to the public (e.g., Records of Decision, RCRA Permits and Corrective Action Decisions, Consent Orders, Interagency Agreements, Federal Facility Agreements.).	x		Cleanup completed per NRC and Cal DHS reqs. Released for unrestricted use.
A. All regulatory decision documents and associated site characterizations have been identified and are either complete or scheduled for completion (e.g., all remedial action activities regarding the soil have been completed, but the impacted groundwater is in the process of being resolved) and are maintained in accordance with regulatory requirements	x		Cleanup completed per NRC and Cal DHS reqs.

REVIEW ITEM	COMPLETED	N/A	STATUS
B. The implemented remedy and associated long-term surveillance and maintenance activities are verified to be in compliance with all regulatory requirements (e.g., appropriate agreements have been entered into with appropriate regulator(s)).		x	Cleanup completed per NRC and Cal DHS reqs. Released for unrestricted use.
C. Five-Year Review results have been made available. Future periodic reviews (not to exceed five years), including supplemental analysis of site-wide Environmental Impact Statements (if applicable and/or required), should be planned and consistent with existing guidance.		x	Cleanup completed per NRC and Cal DHS reqs. Released for unrestricted use.
D. EPA NPL Status and/or RCRA permit status have been clearly indicated (e.g., de-listing, partial de-listing, non-NPL).		x	Cleanup completed per NRC and Cal DHS reqs. Released for unrestricted use.
E. NRC License Status has been established. This should identify the license holder and the development of license transfer plans.	x		Cleanup completed per NRC and Cal DHS reqs. Released for unrestricted use.
F. Locations of documents have been identified and made accessible. A process is in place to ensure that the documents are maintained and kept current (e.g., new technology updates for records management).	x		Cleanup completed per NRC and Cal DHS reqs. Released for unrestricted use. GA is responsible to NRC for records mgmt.
VI. Long-Term Surveillance and Maintenance Budget, Funding, and Personnel Requirements are Identified:			
 Sites should be consistent with and follow their prescribed guidance in determining budget, funding, and personnel requirements. Some of the elements in this section may not apply. 	x		The GA- San Diego site is privately owned and operated. There are no continuing surveillance reqs or outyear costs.
A. A technical baseline document for long-term surveillance and maintenance programs and activities at the site has been developed.		x	The GA- San Diego site is privately owned and operated. There are no continuing surveillance reqs.
B. Funding (consistent with technical baseline).		x	The GA- San Diego site is privately owned and operated. There are no continuing surveillance reqs.
1. Any funds for long-term surveillance and maintenance have been identified and are made available.			
2. Estimates for the annual funding requirements for long-term surveillance and maintenance activities, associated oversight, and information mgmt requirements have been derived and have been included in the Annual Budget Request to Congress.			
Funding assurances have been made based on those estimates.			
 Mechanisms to transfer funds required for long-term surveillance and maintenance have been established. 			
 Funding mechanisms for long-term surveillance and maintenance activities and regulatory oversight activities conducted by other federal and non-federal entities have been established (e.g., documentation of financial assurance agreements for long-term monitoring and surveillance funding). 			
6. Estimates required for financial assurance payments have been determined.			
 Authority has been granted to the steward to use, or have access to, funds related to long-term surveillance and maintenance. 			

REVIEW ITEM	COMPLETED	N/A	STATUS
C. Personnel requirements have been identified (for activities not previously addressed within this set of criteria).		x	The GA- San Diego site is privately owned and operated. There are no continuing surveillance reqs.
 All personnel functions and qualifications necessary for the technical implementation and administration of long-term surveillance and maintenance activities have been identified. 			
A determination for the need of other on-site personnel has been made by identifying the specific duties that may be required.			
A closeout plan for the disposition of excess federal full time equivalents has been developed.			
D. A business close out process has been developed.		x	The GA- San Diego site is privately owned and operated. There are no continuing surveillance reqs.
VII. Information and Records Management Requirements are Satisfied.			
A. The Transfer of Information and Records.	OPEN		In the process of inventorying and scheduling the GA records. Awaiting CD4 decision before transferring records to LM.
1. Agreements are in place that specify records that do not transfer to LM (e.g., current contracts records, current litigation records, TRU waste related records, etc.)	OPEN		Per meeting with LM in April 2004, contract records will be transferred to LM after EM contract close-out. GA has no existing litigation nor TRU waste related records
2. Information and records needed for legacy management activities, including long-term surveillance and maintenance, property management, and government-owned contractor-operated (GOCO) pensions, annuities, and benefits, have been identified.		x	Record storage is the only work scope required of LM.
 Practices and procedures for the transition of information systems and records have been established consistent with the "LM Information and Records Management Transition Guidance." 	OPEN		Per meeting with LM in April 2004, the GA records will be sent to the Grand Junction office. Awaiting CD4 decision before transferring records to LM.
 The guidance and operations information for information systems, including meta-data, have been identified and transferred along with the information systems. 	OPEN		At site closure the Integrated Site Closure System will be transferred to LM.
5. A Site Information and Records Transition Plan has been developed and approved, which establishes a framework to address site-specific records and information requirements, including storage locations, special handling needs, spatial data, and access and retrieval requirements.	OPEN		A brief Site Information and Records Ttransition Plan that establishes the transfer of records to LM will be provided
6. The location(s) for storage and maintenance of site records and information systems has been identified and approved.	OPEN		Per meeting with LM in April 2004, the GA records will be sent to the Grand Junction office. Awaiting CD4 decision before transferring records to LM.
7. An LM records tracking system has been implemented and standards for data formats, finding aids, and indices have been provided to the transfer site.		x	
8. Information from the transfer site's records tracking systems have been migrated to the LM tracking system, along with other finding aids and indices.		x	

REVIEW ITEM	COMPLETED	N/A	STATUS
B. Information and records management planning has been performed and is			
acceptable to the stakeholders, as required under regulatory requirements for		х	
stakeholder involvement and public availability.			
1. Systems and procedures for the archival of long-term surveillance and			
maintenance information in one or more on-site or off-site repositories have		х	Record storage is the only work scope required of LM.
been developed.			
2. Retention schedules that are appropriate for the management of information			OAK will use the DOE Environmental Records Schedule
for long-term surveillance and maintenance and other Legacy Management	x		dated March 1999 to disposition their closed site records
needs have been developed.			
Systems and procedures to establish and facilitate public access to and			
retrieval of records and information critical to long-term surveillance and			
maintenance are in place. Examples could include, but are not limited to,		х	
internet access, local library, on-site information center (e.g., Interpretive			
Center, Museum, etc.), etc.			
4. The National Archives and Records Administration (NARA) has been			
engaged, through the DOE Office of Chief Information Office (OCIO), to			OAK will notify NARA and the DOE OCIO of the transfer
approve any transfer of records past their retention dates, or the loan of current	OPEN		in custodianship to LM.
records to organizations outside of DOE.			
5. The DOE librarian and DOE historian should be consulted regarding the			
transfer of non-record materials, such as library materials and other items that		v	
may have historic value, before agreements are made regarding their transfer		X	
to non-DOE entities.			
6. Classes of long-term surveillance and maintenance information users and			
their access requirements have been identified and solutions have been		х	Record storage is the only work scope required of LM.
implemented.			
VIII. Public Education, Outreach, Information and Notice Requirements are			
Documented and Satisfied:			
• Any community involvement and associated community relations plans should be	×		GA remains an active corporation and is the primary
governed by existing participation standards and systems.	^		POC for concerns about the site.
			List no longer required. Clean-up of the site has been
A. List of site stakeholders with associated address information has been	×		accomplished and the site has been released by the
developed and a process is in place for updating this list.	^		regulatory agencies for unrestricted use ALIG2001
			regulatory agencies for unrestricted use, A002001.
B. Annual or more frequent updates of the administrative record and on-site			
information repository are made available to interested parties. Community		Y	GA was the primary public relations POC during D&D,
involvement tools have been developed (e.g., fact sheets, newsletters, email		~	and will remain so.
notifications, public meetings, etc.).			
C. Costs associated with public involvement have been estimated (e.g., oversight			GA remains an active corporation and is the primary
committees, meeting locations, etc.). Funds sufficient for public involvement are		х	POC for concerns about the site
included in the funding requests.			

REVIEW ITEM	COMPLETED	N/A	STATUS
D. Updates of the administrative record/information repository on-site are annually (at a minimum) made available to interested parties.		x	GA remains an active corporation and is the primary POC for concerns about the site.
IX. Natural, Cultural and Historical Resource Management Requirements are			
Satisfied:			
A. A discrete system or process is in place to protect information about sensitive and natural resources from inappropriate or unauthorized use or access.		x	No sensitive natural, cultural or historical resources were identified.
B. Biological resources, threatened and endangered species, archeological and cultural resources, Native American treaty rights, and/or other natural and cultural resources requirements have been identified and satisfied.		x	No sensitive natural, cultural or historical resources were identified.
C. Locations and characteristics of natural and cultural resources, needing long- term surveillance and maintenance, have been identified (e.g., precise locations and characteristic of cultural and natural resources that require long-term surveillance and maintenance have been identified). A management system is in place and operating successfully.		x	No sensitive natural, cultural or historical resources were identified.
X. Worker Pension and Benefits			
A. Determination has been made for who will be responsible the administration of :		х	GA San Diego is a private site and all workers were employees of GA or their sub-contractors. There are no federal or M&O employees at issue.
1. Retiree benefits and pension fund(s)		Х	
2. Workforce transition services		Х	
3. National Defense Authorization Act for Fiscal Year 1993, Section 3161 Tuition Reimbursement Program and Relocation and Entrepreneurial Resource Program		x	
B. Current Contractor Pensions and Benefits needs are identified and planned		х	GA San Diego is a private site and all workers were employees of GA or their sub-contractors. There are no federally-funded pensions at issue.
 Information about current benefit plans has been obtained 		Х	
Post-closure benefits administrator is identified and appointed		Х	
Employment dates, salary, and clearances verified		Х	
 Personnel-related databases (including manual systems) and records responsibility identified 		x	
a. Employment history and Personnel Files			
b. Historical radiological dose records			
c. Medical Records			
d. Retiree pension and benefit records			
e. Clearance History Files			
f. Training Records			
5. Scope for reconciling the accounts identified		x	

REVIEW ITEM	COMPLETED	N/A	STATUS
C. All claims related to the following areas have been resolved (Note: Responsibility rests with EM and is a contract closeout issue, but may affect ability to transition to LM)		x	None have been filed.
1. Pollution Liability Policy			
2. Auto Liability Policy			
3. General Liability Policy			
4. Fiduciary/Crime/Medical Malpractice Liability Policy			
5. Government Rating Plan (GRP) for Workers Compensation			
6. Non-GRP Workers Compensation Claim			
7. Unresolved Hourly Employee Claims			
8. Beryllium Liability Claims			